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DiaGenic and GE Healthcare collaboration
DiaGenic entered a research collaboration with GE Healthcare 
to develop a blood based test which detects brain amyloid - a 
potential selection tool for amyloid PET imaging 

Promising accuracy data for both MCItect® and 
ADtect® 
Promising exploratory results from feasibility studies indicating 
a potential to differentiate Alzheimer’s disease dementia from 
other forms of dementia

New management
Paul de Potocki was appointed Chief Executive Officer of DiaGenic 
in 2012. Potocki strengthens the organisation by bringing more 
than 20 years of international business management experience 
to the company. Prior to joining DiaGenic, he was CEO of Aerocrine, 
which has been through a commercialization process similar to 
the process  DiaGenic is facing
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H
ighlights post year end

Implemented strategic redirection
Implemented a strategic redirection to solely focus on commercial 
product development targeting Alzheimer’s disease

Financing
In March 2013 the company raised NOK 30 million in gross 
proceeds through a Private Placement of 50,000,000 new shares 
at a price of NOK 0.60 per share. The completion of the Private 
Placement is conditional upon (i) approval by the shareholders, 
and (ii) registration of the increased share capital

3



Co
nt

en
ts

Highlights 2-3

Paul de Potocki - Chief Executive Officer 6-7

Management 8

Business Review 10-11

Product portfolio focused on Alzheimer’s Disease 10

Patent summary 11

Alzheimer’s Disease 12-13

The DiaGenic Share 14-15

Presentation of the Board 16-17

Report from the Board of Directors 18-23

Corporate governance 24-27

Financial Statements 2012 30

Notes 36-60

Declaration by the Board of Directors and CEO 61

Auditor’s Report 62-63

4



Contents

5



 

Alzheimer’s disease progression

Pre-clinical asymptomatic
Mild Cognitive 

Impairment, MCI AD dementia

D
ia

G
en

ic
’s

 C
EO

 - 
Pa

ul
 d

e 
Po

to
ck

i

Focused commercial product development responding to strong 
market demands 
“During 2012, DiaGenic presented promising clinical data related to two of its diagnostic products for Alzheimer’s 
disease. Meanwhile, the need and demand for earlier diagnosis and intervention of Alzheimer’s disease from clinicians, 
industry and healthcare payers has grown increasingly stronger.  As a consequence, DiaGenic is now solely focused on 
commercial product development for Alzheimer’s disease.”

During the year, DiaGenic has implemented a strategic redirection and 
is now fully focused on commercial product development targeting 
Alzheimer’s disease. In doing so, we are addressing significant unmet 
patient needs in one of the world’s fastest growing and most costly 
diseases. The Company’s second generation products currently in 
development for the diagnosis of patients across disease progression 
are uniquely positioned to play a significant role in the future 
management of Alzheimer’s disease.

There have been several recent external confirmations that DiaGenic 
is on the right track. In 2011, the National Institute of Ageing and 
the Alzheimer Association in the U.S. issued updated diagnostic 
guidelines.  In these guidelines, three specific stages of Alzheimer’s 
disease progression are defined, with increased focus on the 
pre-dementia Mild Cognitive Impairment stage as well as on the need 
for new biomarkers to aid in the identification of patients with Mild 
Cognitive Impairment due to Alzheimer’s disease.
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In February 2013, the FDA issued draft industry guidelines for 
Alzheimer’s disease drug development, also emphasizing the value of 
identifying patients with early stage Alzheimer’s disease, i.e. before 
dementia has developed. Several late stage clinical studies for new 
Alzheimer’s disease drugs are in progress by some of the largest 
pharmaceutical companies, and we have received continued strong 
interest from several companies to collaborate around our biomarker 
tests. 

DiaGenic is currently developing three products:

ADtect® – to detect mild to moderate Alzheimer’s disease in the 1. 
dementia stage and for the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer’s 
disease versus other forms of dementia and neurodegenerative 
disorders. 

MCItect® – to detect patients with amnestic Mild Cognitive 2. 
Impairment who will develop Alzheimer’s disease within two 
years. 

AMYtect™ – to detect patients with brain amyloid through a test 3. 
correlating with amyloid PET imaging. Developed in collaboration 
with GE Healthcare, who have an amyloid PET tracer in late stage 
development

These products represent a comprehensive diagnostic test portfolio 
that may aid in objective patient friendly and cost effective diagnosis 
across Alzheimer’s disease progression, respond to the Pharma 
industry’s need to identify patients eligible for treatment with drugs 
targeting early stage Alzheimer’s disease, as well as to select the 
appropriate patients for amyloid PET imaging now approved in the 
U.S. and Europe. 

As the world market leader in blood based gene expression tests for 
Alzheimer’s disease, we are facing some exciting near term business 
milestones. CE marking of ADtect® and MCItect®, a decision by the 
FDA regarding our path to the U.S. market for MCItect®, and the 
readout of the collaborative study with GE Healthcare all represent 
significant events, enabling both product commercialization in many 
regions and value adding business development activities.

Going forward, we believe that the successful development of our 
product portfolio for Alzheimer’s disease will allow us to capitalize 
on a significantly more favourable position to achieve commercially 
meaningful partnership deals related to validated products, attract 
additional financing for an in-house FDA clearance process with 
retained product rights, or consider a trade sale at a valuation 
attractive to our shareholders. 
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Ruben Ekbråten (1976), CFO
Ruben Ekbråten holds a MBA from Heriot Watt University. He has experience as a stock broker, and he has held several positions 
within finance at GE Healthcare in Norway and internationally. Before joining DiaGenic in 2007, he was a Finance manager at GE 
Healthcare.

Paul de Potocki (1962), Chief Executive Officer
Paul de Potocki brings more than 20 years of international business management experience to the company. Prior to joining Diagenic 
he served as CEO at Aerocrine, a medical device and diagnostic company pioneering a novel technology for the improved diagnosis 
and management of asthma. He has also served as Senior Vice President, Commercial and Strategic Development at Biovitrum, today 
SOBI. He was also this, Paul served as Executive Vice President, Strategic Marketing at the German company Fresenius Kabi, as well 
as Divisional Vice President, Global Sales and Strategic Marketing with Pharmacia. Prior to he held various international commercial 
management positions within the Unilever group. 

Magnus Sjögren (1964), Chief Medical Officer
Magnus Sjogren is a Medical Doctor, Associate Professor, and trained Psychiatrist, and an author of more than 200 scientific publications. 
He has held various positions in academia and Pharma, and has been affiliated the Karolinska Institute, Sweden for several years. Prior 
to joining DiaGenic ASA in 2011, he was Vice President of Global Exploratory Development at UCB Pharma SA in Belgium and UK and 
as well as had executive and senior scientific positions at Schering-Plough, Organon and AstraZeneca.
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DiaGenic’s proprietary concept
DiaGenic’s unique and patent-protected concept for the diagnosis of 
disease is based on the knowledge that a “focal” disease will lead to 
subtle systemically detectable signals. These signals can be measured 
in the blood by measuring the gene expression of blood cells which 
reflects a disease-specific pattern. Changes in gene activity of the 
selected genes are measured using gene expression technology. 
DiaGenic’s concept involves identifying these genes and using them 
to develop a disease-specific gene expression signature which forms 
the basis of the diagnostic test.

Business strategy
DiaGenic has altered its business strategy during 2012 to focus solely 
on the large unmet needs related to Alzheimer’s Disease and to 
exit research activities outside this focus. The Company’s strategy 
is to commercialize its products through strategic alliances and 
partnerships with leading pharma and diagnostic companies. DiaGenic 
will pursue three parallel tracks towards shareholder value creation: 
(i) achieve commercially meaningful partnership deals related to its 
validated products, (ii) attract additional financing for an in-house 
FDA clearance process with retained product rights, and (iii) consider 
a trade sale at a valuation attractive to its shareholders.

Following a potential trade sale or strategic partnering of the 
Company’s products, market strategy will be controlled by the 
acquirer or licensing partner. Product out-licensing following targeted 
milestones for the product portfolio may be done for all or individual 
products as well as globally or with different partners for separate 
territories. DiaGenic is currently and will continue to evaluate 
opportunities for global and regional partnerships both regarding 
product commercialization and final regulatory clearances in major 
territories including Europe, the U.S., China and Japan. The near 
term milestones of CE marking of ADtect® and MCItect®, the pre-IDE 
meeting regarding MCItect® with the FDA and the AMYtect™ study 
readout will to a large extent determine the Company’s preferred 
commercial strategy. The strategic alternative to attract additional 
funds to pursue an FDA clearance in-house for one product, most likely 
MCItect®, is expected to be viable only in the scenario where one or 
two of DiaGenic’s other products have been successfully partnered. 
In such a scenario, DiaGenic would seek to enter into distribution 

agreements to commercialize MCItect® in Europe on the basis of 
the CE marking, as well as seek to establish partners in the U.S. and 
China to make the product available as a Laboratory Developed Test 
in anticipation of FDA and SFDA clearances. 

Product portfolio focused on Alzheimer’s disease
DiaGenic’s focused product portfolio consists of three Alzheimer’s 
diagnostic tests in development:

ADtect® – to detect mild to moderate Alzheimer’s disease in the 1. 
dementia stage and for the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer’s 
disease versus other forms of dementia.

MCItect® – to detect patients with amnestic Mild Cognitive 2. 
Impairment who will develop Alzheimer’s disease within two 
years.

AMYtect™ – to detect patients with brain amyloid through a test 3. 
correlating with amyloid PET imaging. Developed in collaboration 
with GE Healthcare, who have an amyloid PET tracer in late 
development.

DiaGenic focuses on Alzheimer’s disease and consequently all past 
product development efforts on Parkinson’s disease and breast cancer 
have been halted. DiaGenic is evaluating opportunities for partnering 
or divestment of its assets related to both Parkinson’s disease and 
breast cancer.

Core Assets
DiaGenic’s core competencies lie within analysis and identification 
of disease-specific gene expression patterns in blood. DiaGenic 
pioneered studies that showed that this was possible, and the concept 
was patented as far back as 1997. Since then, DiaGenic has been one 
of the forerunners in the use of gene expression in blood samples 
for the purpose of diagnostics. The company utilises commercially 
accessible, quality assured and robust technology that is suitable for 
diagnostic use. Through its expertise and a strong patent portfolio, 
DiaGenic has established a competitive advantage in identifying and 
optimizing gene expressions signatures in blood. 
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Business Review
Patent summary
The key to the company’s patent strategy is DiaGenic’s concept of 
using blood samples taken remotely from the diseased area and 
analysis of gene expression. The company’s diagnostic applications 
are protected through a portfolio of patents and patent applications. 
Key patents within the patent portfolio has been confirmed by third 
parties as being an important asset for DiaGenic, which provides 
protection and the “freedom to operate” within diagnostic products. 
The patent portfolio reflects the company’s active patent strategy, and 
serves to affirm DiaGenic’s role as a leader in molecular diagnostics 
using tests based on blood.

Human capital 
The employees constitute a very important part of DiaGenic and are 
the key to success. DiaGenic endeavours to facilitate and streamline 
conditions in a manner that stimulates efficient and flexible work 
processes. DiaGenic has 18 employees with expertise in the areas of 
business development, medicine, medical diagnostics, biochemistry, 
statistics, molecular biology, bioinformatics, patent work,  and 
finance.
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Alzheimer’s disease affects millions of people and the numbers 
increase 
Alzheimer’s disease is the most common form of dementia and 
is characterised by the impairment of cognitive functions. The 
disease primarily occurs in people over 60 years old, and the scope 
of the disease is projected to increase dramatically as this age 
group experiences significant growth. According to the Alzheimer’s 
Association, more than 5 million Americans suffer from Alzheimer’s 
disease, and this figure is expected to rise to 8 million by 2030. 

Current diagnosis is time-consuming and difficult
Diagnosis is currently made using a comprehensive battery of tests, 
including questionnaires and clinical interviews with the patient and 
close relatives in order to assess impairments and behavioural changes. 
These tests are often supplemented with imaging diagnostics and 
measurement of neurophysiological function. Even with all of these 
tests, it can still be difficult to give a definite diagnosis, especially 
when it comes to early forms of the disease. Clinicians are therefore 
yearning for new and improved diagnostics so that they may prescribe 
medical treatment and make arrangements for patients. 

Early diagnosis is important for effective medical treatment 
Currently, there is no cure for Alzheimer’s disease; the drugs available 
on the market only treat the symptoms. However, the research and 
development activities to develop new disease modifying therapies 
are immense, and if successful, this will have a considerable impact on 
clinical practice and the need for simple and effective early diagnosis. 
With new disease-modifying medicines avaiable, the market potential 
for diagnostic testing will be significantly greater. 

Market opportunity for DiaGenic
In exploiting this market opportunity DiaGenic has a product 
development portfolio of bloodbased Alzheimer diagnostics which 

stretch across the different stages of the disease and for different 
clinical applications. 

DiaGenic’s development programme
Over the course of development, DiaGenic has performed numerous 
studies to discover, verify, validate and document the concept and 
product candidates. In order to exploit the commercial potential 
of DiaGenic’s concept and the strength in the patent portfolio, the 
company’s research programme focuses on development of blood 
based diagnostics in Alzheimer’s disease. DiaGenic has three products 
in development for detection of Alzheimer’s disease:, ADtect® for 
early Alzheimer dementia detection, MCItect® for prediction of 
individuals with amnestic mild cognitive impairment that will convert 
to Alzheimer’s dementia within two years, and AMYtect™, a selection 
tool for PET imaging which detects amyloid in the brain. Moreover, 
the concept is arranged in a way that makes it possible to expand 
into other diseases and other applications in each disease area, for 
example classification of disease stages and subtypes.

ADtect® - Alzheimer dementia test
The CE marked ADtect®  detects Alzheimer’s disease in the dementia 
stage (mild to moderate) from no dementia. To improve clinical 
relevance for ADtect®, DiaGenic is developing a new ADtect® 
which will study how gene expression is differentially expressed in 
Alzheimer’s disease in the dementia stage vs. other types of dementia/
neurodegenerative disorders. Re-evaluation of two separate and 
previously performed clinical trials shows that DiaGenic’s technology 
has the potential to differentiate dementia due to Alzheimer’s disease  
from other forms of dementia/neurodegenerative disorders with 
82%-89% accuracy. We envisage the new ADtect® with its rapid and 
convenient sample collection can play an important role in separating 
Alzheimer’s disease and other forms of dementia/neurodegenerative 
diseases early. 

Alzheimer’s disease
Build up of plaque in the brain is the most common theory behind the occurrence of Alzheimer’s disease. The first report 
dates back to 1906 when the German neurologist, Alois Alzheimer, observed plaque build-up under a microscope while 
performing a post mortem examination. This was the inception of the theory relating to plaque; Alzheimer later had 
the disease named after him.
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MCItect® - Mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer’s disease 
within 2 years
Mild Cognitive Impairment is an intermediate stage between the 
expected cognitive decline of normal aging and the more serious 
decline of dementia. Individuals with mild cognitive impairment have 
an increased risk of progressing to dementia, caused by Alzheimer’s 
disease or other neurological conditions. But some people with mild 
cognitive impairment stay cognitively stabile, and some eventually 
get better. The target intended use of MCItect® is to identify patients 
with amnestic mild cognitive impairment who will, within the next 
two years, progress to Alzheimer’s disease dementia.

In 2010, DiaGenic entered a research and development collaboration 
with Pfizer for the identification of gene expression signatures in 
blood that are specific to the group of mild cognitive impairment 
patients that will develop Alzheimer’s disease dementia. In 2011, 
DiaGenic presented results from this pilot study consisting of a total 
of 129 patients in which DiaGenic successfully identified blood-based 
biomarkers consistent with Alzheimer’s disease in patients with the 
very first symptoms of cognitive impairment. The study demonstrated 
an accuracy of 74% from a panel of 20 genes. In 2012, a new study 
consisting of 75 patients demonstrated an accuracy of 81% in 
predicting conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer’s 
disease (MCI/AD) within two years from a further optimized panel of 
genes. 

Clinical application of MCItect® is to identify the patients with 
amnestic mild cognitive impairment who will develop Alzheimer’s 
disease dementia within the next two years. MCItect® is also suitable 
for patient inclusion into clinical trials in the pre-dementia stage of 
Alzheimer’s disease. Applied as an enrichment tool, the DiaGenic test 
has the potential to reduce the necessary size of the clinical trials by 
30-40% through improved identification of patients.

AMYtect™ - blood test to detect patients with brain amyloid 
AMYtect™ is an IVD blood test to identify patients with brain amyloid. 
Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography (PET) imaging of the brain is 
used as gold standard. The test is developed under a collaborative 
research and option agreement with GE Healthcare. A study 
including up to 150 patients was initiated in 2012. Read-out of the 
study is expected in 2013. DiaGenic aims at completing AMYtect™ 

development in industrial partnership. 

Competitive diagnostic methods
Several emerging biotech or diagnostic companies are in various 
stages of discovery or development of blood-based biomarkers. 
Many academic groups have similar programs and a number of the 
major pharmaceutical companies have in-house biomarker projects, 
developed in parallel with their drug development efforts. 

Over the last ten years, advancement in the sciences and technologies 
of proteomics, bioinformatics and gene expression profiling have 
nevertheless made it possible to develop prototype tests and bring 
these to clinical trials. Considering the multitude of pathological 
processes active in Alzheimer’s disease, other approaches have 
focused on panels of proteins to detect characteristic changes in 
protein patterns. Competitive biomarkers for Alzheimer’s disease 
include biomarkers such as Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and imaging 
biomarkers such as amyloid tracers for Positron Emission Tomography 
(PET). Some of these biomarkers have extensive documentation 
and have accurate detection of one of the hallmarks of Alzheimer’s 
disease, amyloid plaques. However, the market potential for such 
biomarkers may be somewhat limited due to the expensiveness, and 
for CSF specifically also inconvenience and potential risks in obtaining 
the CSF sample.

A number of companies are working on developing biomarkers 
using blood as the testing material for Alzheimer’s disease. Emerging 
companies have published such individual studies, in some cases 
with high accuracy. Data have, however, not been repeated and any 
commercial product emanating from these programs will require 
several years of additional development.  DiaGenic is not aware of 
any blood-based Alzheimer’s tests that are approved for diagnostic 
purposes in the US. In Europe, DiaGenic is only aware of one other 
blood-based Alzheimer’s test that has had a CE mark, and that is 
AclarusDx by Exonhit. The study of gene expression is not subject to 
the sensitivity problems connected with protein based tests, as RNA 
is readily available in whole blood and easy to analyse with the help 
of commercially available microarrays.
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Shareholders and Shareholder policy
DiaGenic is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and the shareholder 
list has a significant share of institutional and private investors from 
the Nordic countries. DiaGenic has mainly been funded by equity 
in addition to research grants. The Company is at the product 
development stage and has not yet attained sufficient revenues to 
cover costs and thereby generate a positive cash flow from operations. 
Consequently there is considerable emphasis on securing financing 
in the equity markets to ensure financial freedom of operation by 
developing the Company into an even more attractive investment 
object for both Nordic and international investors. The Company will 
not consider dividend proposals until the long-term financial situation 
allows for such distribution. The Company has only one class of shares 
and no special regulations linked to the shares. One share thus carries 
one vote.

Developments in the Share Price and Volume Traded
The DiaGenic share price ranged from NOK 0.87 to NOK 7.40 in 2012. 
At the start of 2012, the closing price was NOK 6.30 and by year end 

the share price was NOK 0.97, a decline of 85 %. For comparison, the 
Oslo Stock Exchange’s Health Care Index (OSE35) increased by five per 
cent during the corresponding period. Based on the closing price at 
year end, the Company was valued at NOK 26 million. The Company’s 
shares had a market maker to contribute to the increased trading 
in the share and were listed on the OB Match list of the Oslo Stock 
Exchange. The average daily trading volume was 160,699 shares in 
2012 as compared to 115,699 shares in 2011. DiaGenic is continuing 
its efforts to increase the interest and trading volume of its share in 
order to make the share an increasingly attractive investment object.

Share Capital Developments
Since the Company was first listed in 2004 until and including 2012, 
the Company has performed ten share issues, which have injected 
share capital in the total amount of NOK 280 million. The Company’s 
share capital at the end of December 2012 totalled NOK 13,511,826 
distributed across 27,023,652 shares with a nominal value of NOK 
0.50 per share. 
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Shareholders as of 31 December 2012
Name Number of shares % Shares
Storebrand Vekst 2 055 669 7,61%
Tredje AP-fonden 1 596 380 5,91%
Alfred Berg Gambak 1 462 949 5,41%
Holberg Norge 920 231 3,41%
GEC Holding AS 574 901 2,13%
SIX SIS AG 506 104 1,87%
MP Pensjon PK 392 654 1,45%
Verdipapirfondet Nordea Kaptial 388 000 1,44%
Bjørn Dingstad 339 328 1,26%
Lars Otto Galtung 333 412 1,23%
Anders Lönneborg 311 477 1,15%
Midtco Invest 240 000 0,89%
Aroma Holding AS 240 000 0,89%
Verdipapirfondet Nordea Avkastning 225 000 0,83%
Kikut AS 222 889 0,82%
Krag Invest AS 220 000 0,81%
Capveen AS 200 000 0,74%
Jan Ove Sæstad 200 000 0,74%
Sigbjørn Folland 200 000 0,74%
Sommerfugl Invest AS 187 000 0,69%
Total 20 largest shareholders 10 815 994 40,02%
Total all other shareholders 16 207 658 59,98%
Total number of shares 27 023 652 100,00%

Share key figures
Ticker DIAG
ISIN NO0010081235
Stock Exchange Oslo Stock Exchange
Share registrar DNB Bank ASA
Listed 27 August 2004
Total number of shares 31 December 2012 27,023,652
Average number of shares 2012 27,023,652
Nominal value per share NOK 0.5
Share capital 31 December 2012 NOK 13.5 million
Share price 30 December 2011 NOK 6.60
Share price 28 December 2012 NOK 0.97
Change in share price 2012 -85%
Market capitalisation 31 December 2012 NOK 26 million
Highest share price 2012 NOK 7.40
Lowest share price 2012 NOK 0.87
Traded volume 2012 40,335,552
Turnover rate 2012 149%
Average daily traded volume 160,699

Month/Year Event Number of shares
Total

number of shares Share capital (NOK)
Par value per share 

(NOK)

Start 2009 1 January 2009  -  51 736 520  2 586 826  0.05 
Jul. 2009 Share issue  2 500 000  54 236 520  2 711 826  0.05 
Nov. 2009 Share issue  12 500 000  66 736 520  3 336 826  0.05 
Feb. 2010 Share issue  3 500 000  70 236 520  3 511 826  0.05 
Nov. 2010 Share issue  140 000 000  210 236 520  10 511 826  0.05 
Dec. 2010 Share issue  60 000 000  270 236 520  13 511 826  0.05 
May 2011 Reverse share split 10:1  -  27 023 652  13 511 826  0.50 

Share options
At the general meeting held on 23 May 2011, a share option plan 
consisting of up to 1,340,000 options for all employees was approved. 
On 14 August 2012, an additional share option plan consisting of 
700,000 options was approved. The two option plans accumulate to 
approximately 7.55 % of the current share capital. The key principles 
in the share option programme are as follows: three years vesting 
from grant date, strike price equals market price + 10% at the grant 
date. The CEO was granted all 1,000,000 options on 17 September 
2012, all other employees are allotted options distributed across 
a period over three years (2011, 2012 and 2013), and with 3 years 
vesting from grant date. The programme is capped at 10 times strike 

price and the social security tax liability is capped at 3 times strike 
price. One option holds the right to subscribe for one share. A total 
of 1,227,000 options were allotted in 2012 grant at a strike price of 
NOK 3.25 per share. Total outstanding options in DiaGenic per 31 
December 2012 is 1,459,000. The Company has no further option or 
warrant programmes. 

15



Pr
es

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
Bo

ar
d

Patrik Dahlen (1962), Deputy Chairman
Dahlen has over 20 years experience in the diagnostic and life science industry, and he is currently CEO of Immunodiagnostic systems 
Plc. Prior to his current positions, he was CEO of Neurosearch, a Denmark based biotech company listed on the Copenhagen stock 
exchange. From 2009 to 2010, Dahlen was CEO of Chempaq, a Point of Care diagnostics company. Dahlen was CEO of Dako from 2005 
to 2009, during which the company underwent a significant repositioning with renewed focus on cancer and companion diagnostics, 
and he has held positions such as CEO of BioImage, Senior Vice President of Perkin-Elmer Inc, and President of Perkin-Elmer Life 
Sciences. He is chairman of QuantiBact, a private biotech company based in Scandinavia.

Henrik Lund (1956), Chairman
Lund came to DiaGenic from the role of Global Vice President MC Clinical Development, AstraZeneca R&D. Lund has more than 15 
years international management experience from the pharmaceutical industry. His academic background is from The University of 
Oslo and University of California, San Francisco, US. Lund joined AstraZeneca in 1994, and since 2005 he has headed AstraZeneca’s 
clinical development, phase I-III, across 43 subsidiaries in Europe, Asia and Latin America. For the last 5 years, Lund has been part of 
the Clinical Development management team. Prior to joining AstraZeneca, Lund gained experience from both commercial and R&D 
management roles from Nycomed Imaging and Rhone-Poulenc Rorer. Lund is also a Board member in other Life Science organisations 
in Scandinavia such as Oslo Cancer Cluster and Medcoast Scandinavia, and he is also engaged as a consultant for the Company. 

Ingrid Wiik (1945), Board member
Wiik, holds a Master of Pharmacy from The University of Oslo, a M.Sc in Biopharmacy from The University of London, and an MBA 
from the Norwegian School of Management. She has spent more than 30 years in the pharmaceutical industry, both in R&D and 
general management, and has extensive leadership and international experience. In the years from 2000 to 2006, she was President 
and CEO of Alpharma Inc., a NYSE listed US Corporation with $ 1.5 billion in turnover and 4300 employees. Wiik currently holds Board 
positions in Algeta ASA and Photocure ASA.
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Presentation of the Board

Ulrica Slåne (1965), Board member
Slåne currently holds a position as Head of life science investments at AP3, The third National Swedish Pension Fund. She has been on 
the Board of the listed company Karolinska Development, based in Stockholm. Slåne holds a BSc in Finance and Business Administration 
from Stockholm School of Economics, and has studied Physiology and Pharmacology at the Karolinska Institute, SE. Prior to her position 
as fund manager, Slåne spent ten years as a financial analyst for the Life Science sector at various investment banks.

Tom Pike (1960), board member
Pike is actively involved with a number of life science companies and organizations in the capacity of consultant and/or Board member. 
His past experience ranges from Chairman & CEO of Clavis Pharma ASA, a public oncology drug development company to Partner of 
the venture capital group NeoMed Management and more than 18 years experience as CEO, sales and marketing director, business 
alliance manager and other positions at Hoffmann-La Roche in Switzerland and Norway. He has served on the Board (past Chairman) 
of the Norwegian Association of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers for six years.
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Business strategy
DiaGenic has altered its business strategy during 2012 to focus solely 
on the large unmet needs related to Alzheimer’s Disease and to exit 
research activities outside this focus. The Board believes that early 
disease detection enabling earlier intervention is critical to address 
the imminent needs among Alzheimer’s patients, caregivers and 
society. Recent readouts from the Phase III clinical studies of novel 
Alzheimer’s therapeutics have provided additional support to this 
conviction. 

DiaGenic’s strategy is to progress the current Alzheimer product 
portfolio through the different stages necessary for product 
development. The key short term product development milestones 
are expected to be CE marking of ADtect® and MCItect®, and read 
out of the pilot study with GE Healthcare on AMYtect™. In addition, 
DiaGenic plans for a meeting with the FDA (Pre IDE) to clarify the 
regulatory path towards FDA clearance of MCItect®. All of these short 
term milestones are critical product development milestones towards 
the longer term and significant product development milestone; US 
regulatory clearance. 

The Company’s strategy is to commercialize its products through 
strategic alliances and partnerships with leading pharma and 
diagnostic companies. DiaGenic will pursue three parallel tracks 
towards shareholder value creation: (i) achieve commercially 
meaningful partnership deals related to its validated products, (ii) 
attract additional financing for an in-house FDA clearance process with 
retained product rights, and (iii) consider a trade sale at a valuation 
attractive to its shareholders. 
The interest in DiaGenic from key industry stakeholders has remained 
strong. We will continue to pursue non-exclusive partnerships and 

collaborative development deals with industry partners, while 
maintaining control of our intellectual property and technology 
platform related to Alzheimer’s Disease. As a consequence, DiaGenic 
does not expect partnering deals to provide significant income in the 
short term. However, such partnerships could be of great strategic 
importance in the development and commercialization of DiaGenic’s 
products going forward.

DiaGenic has implemented its strategic redirection and is now fully 
focused on commercial product development targeting Alzheimer’s 
disease. In doing so, we are addressing significant unmet patient 
needs in one of the world’s fastest growing and most costly diseases. 

The Alzheimer’s disease market
Alzheimer’s disease continues to be one of the top global health 
priorities. The prevalence and cost of Alzheimer’s disease is expected 
to grow significantly from 2012 to 2050 driven by longer life 
expectancies and ageing baby boomers. Unless something is done, 
aggregate payments for healthcare, long term care and hospice for 
people with Alzheimer’s disease and other dementias are projected to 
increase from $ 200 billion in 2012 to $ 1.1 trillion in 2050 (Alzheimer’s 
Association, 2012 Alzheimer’s Disease Facts and Figures). The major 
US Governmental Health Insurance plans, Medicare and Medicaid, 
cover about 70 per cent of the cost of care, which  puts Alzheimer 
disease high up on the payers and regulators agenda.

Alzheimer’s Association and the National Institute on Aging (NIA) have 
jointly issued new criteria and guidelines to diagnose Alzheimer’s 
disease. These new criteria update refine and broaden previous widely 
used guidelines jointly issued by the Alzheimer’s Association and the 
NIH over the past 30 years. Three of the new guidelines focus on 

HIGHLIGHTS IN 2012
DiaGenic and GE Healthcare enter research collaboration  Â
ADtect® - results above 80% accuracy Â
MCItect® - results above 80% accuracy Â
New management Â
Re-focused strategy Â
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three stages of Alzheimer’s disease: (i) dementia due to Alzheimer’s, 
(ii) mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer’s, and (iii) preclinical 
(pre symptomatic) Alzheimer’s. The new guidelines aim to improve 
current diagnosis of Alzheimer’s disease and provide proposals for 
future use of biomarkers to increase diagnostic accuracy and optimize 
treatment. 

PET biomarkers for Alzheimer’s disease are among the stronger 
biomarker candidates. In April 2012, the US Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) approved Amyvid (Lilly), a tracer used for 
Positron Emission Tomography (PET) to estimate the density of 
beta-amyloid in the brain in patients with cognitive decline, a hallmark 
of Alzheimer’s disease. The FDA approval of the first PET based 
diagnostic procedures to detect beta-amyloid in the brain represents 
an important milestone for PET biomarkers for Alzheimer’s disease, 
a market expected to reach $852 million by 2014 (BCC research, 
Alzheimer’s disease Therapeutics and Diagnostics). 

There is growing industry consensus that diagnosis and intervention 
early in Alzheimer’s disease progression is necessary for effective 
therapy. In July 2012, a phase III read-out of Bapineuzumab (Elan/J&J/
Pfizer) failed to show significant effect over placebo in patients with 
Alzheimer’s disease dementia. In August 2012, a similar message 
was conveyed for Lilly’s Solanezumab. However, in October 2012 Lilly 
spelled out encouraging data plucked out of a secondary analysis of 
pooled data in patients with mild forms of Alzheimer’s disease. In 
December 2012, Lilly underlined the encouraging data by providing 
plans for an additional Phase III study of Solanezumab in patients with 
mild Alzheimer’s disease. A treatment that delays disease onset by 
only a few years will reduce the overall cost of Alzheimer’s disease 
significantly.

Research and development
DiaGenic seeks to create and sustain its competitive advantage 
through continued investments in research and development (R&D) 
of the Alzheimer’s disease portfolio, in order to ensure future value 
creation from its patent portfolio. The company will use its best efforts 
to finance research and development activities externally, and at the 
same time retain all product rights; for example, through research 
collaborations and grants from public or private sources.  
Our research and development activities are focused on the 

development of the Alzheimer’s disease portfolio:

ADtect® – to detect mild to moderate Alzheimer’s disease in the 1. 
dementia stage and for the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer’s 
disease versus other forms of dementia. 

MCItect® – to detect patients with amnestic mild Cognitive 2. 
Impairment who will develop Alzheimer’s disease within two 
years. 

AMYtect™ – to detect patients with brain amyloid; test correlating 3. 
with amyloid PET imaging. Developed in collaboration with GE 
Healthcare, who have an amyloid PET tracer in late development.

In 2012 DiaGenic achieved crucial improvements of its Alzheimer’s 
disease product portfolio by exceeding accuracy levels above 80% for 
both ADtect® and MCItect®. In addition, DiaGenic has added a new 
product to its Alzheimer’s disease portfolio by entering a research 
collaboration with GE Healthcare to develop a test for selection of 
patients to amyloid PET scanning.

More details on the development of the Alzheimer’s disease product 
portfolio is described below:

To improve clinical relevance for ADtect®, DiaGenic is developing  -
a new ADtect® which will study how gene expression is 
differentially expressed in Alzheimer’s disease in the dementia 
stage vs. other types of dementia/neurodegenerative disorders. 
This differs from the current CE marked ADtect® which looked at 
Alzheimer‘s disease dementia vs. healthy controls. Clinical utility 
of the new ADtect® is considered to be significantly improved. 
During 2012 re-evaluation of two separate and previously 
performed clinical trials showed that DiaGenic’s technology has 
the potential to differentiate dementia due to Alzheimer’s disease 
from other forms of dementia/neurodegenerative disorders. 
These two studies showed a diagnostic accuracy of 89% and 82% 
respectively, and represent encouraging data for the new ADtect®. 
With its rapid and convenient sample collection, the new ADtect® 
can play an important role in separating Alzheimer’s disease and 
other forms of dementia/neurodegenerative diseases early.
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Collection of blood samples for the MCItect® project has  -
been on-going for several years, and in 2010, DiaGenic signed 
a research and development agreement with Pfizer for the 
identification of gene expression signatures in blood that are 
specific to the group of mild cognitive impairment patients that 
will develop Alzheimer’s disease dementia. In 2011, DiaGenic 
presented promising findings from this pilot study, and in 2012, 
a new study consisting of 75 patients, demonstrated an accuracy 
of 81% in predicting conversion from mild cognitive impairment 
to Alzheimer’s disease (MCI/AD) within two years from a further 
optimized panel of genes. Clinical application of MCItect® is to 
identify the patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment 
who will develop Alzheimer’s disease dementia within the next 
two years.

AMYtect™ is an IVD blood test in developement identify patients  -
with brain amyloid. Amyloid PET imaging of the brain is used 
as gold standard. The test is developed under a collaborative 
research and option agreement with GE Healthcare. A study 
including 150 patients is planned (50 patients are enrolled as of 
December 2012) with interim analysis expected during summer 
2013 and read-out of the first 100 enrolled in Q3 2013. DiaGenic 
aims at completing AMYtect™ development in an industrial 
partnership. 

As a consequence of the strategic decision to focus on research and 
development targeting Alzheimer’s disease, DiaGenic has terminated 
research activities outside of this focus after then end of year 2012. 
The research activities affected include breast cancer, Parkinson’s 
disease, microRNA and activities in the standardisation of sample 
handling through the SPIDIA project.

Patents
DiaGenic’s concept relies on the use of (blood) samples taken distant 
from the disease area and analyzing the expression of selected 
informative genes for diagnostic purposes. The main objective of 
company IP activities is to secure best possible protection for its 
different products in development. The portfolio of intellectual 
property rights covers a number of diseases in addition to Alzheimer’s 
disease.

In 2012, DiaGenic continued to strengthen its patent portfolio across 
several patent families, diseases, countries and applications.   A Family 
3 patent was granted in Japan (JP5060945). DiaGenic has through a 
third party performed a legal opinion on the strength of the Family 1 
concept patent in the US, which confirms the strength of DiaGenic’s 
US patent. The family 1 concept patent is valid until 2018 in the US, 
and a new patent application (Family 5) was filed in 2011 to extend 
protection in the Alzheimer disease area. 

The patent portfolio constitutes an important asset for DiaGenic. Parts 
of the patent portfolio relates to DiaGenic’s previous focus within 
breast cancer. In light of the revised strategy with only Alzheimer’s 
disease in focus, the patent portfolio is being adjusted accordingly. 
However some granted breast cancer patents might be considered 
valuable in a potential divestment of the breast cancer test BCtect® 
and consequently some of these patents will be retained. The patent 
portfolio reflects the company’s active patent strategy and the legal 
opinion confirms DiaGenic’s leading role in blood-based molecular 
diagnostics.

Organisation and environment, staff and management
DiaGenic’s success depends on skilled, experienced and qualified 
managers and employees. DiaGenic continued to strengthen its 
organisation by recruitment of skilled and qualified personnel with 
relevant experience. In 2012, DiaGenic strengthened the organisation 
by hiring Paul de Potocki as new Chief Executive Officer. Potocki 
brings more than 20 years of international business management 
experience to the company. Prior to joining DiaGenic, he served as CEO 
at Aerocrine, a medical device and diagnostic company pioneering 
a novel technology for the improved diagnosis and management 
of asthma. He also served as Senior Vice President, Commercial 
and Strategic Development at Biovitrum, today SOBI, and senior 
commercial management positions in Fresenius Kabi, Pharmacia and 
Unilever. 

Women and men have equal rights for all types of assignments 
and promotions. The company considers the diversity of its staff’s 
education, experience, gender and nationality/ethnic background to 
be positive for the development of an innovative environment.

DiaGenic had 17 employees at year end, compared to 19 employees 
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last year. Of the company’s 17 employees, 9 are women, one of whom 
is Head of production and laboratory, and one of whom is a project 
manager. The composition of the Board was strengthened in June 
when Patrik Dahlen joined the Board with his extensive diagnostic 
competence. At the end of the year, two of the five directors were 
women. All employees are located at the company’s premises in Oslo, 
which includes both offices and laboratory.

Our working environment is considered to be good. No accidents or 
injuries were recorded in 2012. Sickness absence in 2012 totalled 
2.1% of working hours against 2.2% of working hours for the same 
period in 2011.

The company collaborates with several scientific advisors with a high 
international reputation. In addition, DiaGenic purchases services 
from a variety of suppliers and consulting companies.

The company does not pollute the external environment.

Corporate governance
DiaGenic’s Board and Management are committed to maintaining 
high ethical standards and work for good corporate governance. The 
company believes that good corporate governance helps to build 
confidence among shareholders, customers and other stakeholders, 
thereby contributing to best possible value creation over time. The 
core of the company’s corporate governance is equal treatment of 
all shareholders. The company has only one class of shares and all 
shareholders have equal rights. The company’s shares are listed and 
freely transferable. DiaGenic’s corporate governance report is based 
on the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance dated 
23 October 2012, which can be found on page 24-27 of the annual 
report and on the Company web page.

Shareholders and financing
DiaGenic shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker 
“DIAG”. At the end of 2012, the company had 27,023,652 outstanding 
shares, divided across 2,480 shareholders. Nominal value is NOK 0.50 
per share.

On the basis of the activities currently planned, the company has 
sufficient working capital beyond the next 12 months. In accordance 

with Section 3(3a) of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the Board 
therefore confirms that the requirement for continued operation is in 
place and that the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with this requirement.

The company’s priority is to expand its work on investor relations and 
to work to increase awareness of the stock in Norway and abroad. Its 
list of shareholders has a considerable number of Nordic institutional 
investors and private investors.

Finance
Comprehensive income
Income and research grants
DiaGenic had operating income of NOK 126 thousand in 2012 (NOK 
3,095 thousand in 2011). Operating revenues for 2012 relates to 
pilot sales of ADtect® in Spain. Operating revenue for 2011 are 
mainly revenue from collaborative agreements with pharma based 
on milestones achieved. Research grants are entered net into the 
accounts (reducing other operating costs). Research grants in 2012 
were NOK 3,160 thousand (NOK 4,587 thousand in 2011).

Operating costs
Total operating costs net of research grants amounted to NOK 42,078 
thousand in 2012 (NOK 40,116 thousand in 2011). Of this, salaries 
and personnel expenses amounted to NOK 25,216 thousand (NOK 
23,643 thousand), a year over year increase mainly due to the change 
of CEO during 2012. The average staff size decreased from 21 in 2011 
to 19 in 2012. Of the total operating costs for 2012, depreciation and 
amortisation, write-downs and other operating costs amounted to 
NOK 16,194 thousand (NOK 14,333 thousand). The main drivers for 
the year over year increase are: reduction in research grants (which is 
entered as a reduction of other operating cost), one off recruitment 
cost and increased blood sample cost. Annual impairment testing 
of goodwill concluded with a decision to perform write down of 
goodwill, which adds to the year over year variance.  The cost of 
goods amounted to NOK 667 thousand in 2012 (NOK 2,140 thousand 
in 2011).
Net financial income amounted to NOK 1,051 thousand in 2012 
against NOK 2,268 thousand in 2011.

Comprehensive income for 2012 amounted to NOK -40.9 million, 
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compared to NOK -34.8 million in 2011. The Board propose that 
the loss for 2012, which totals NOK 40.9 million, will be covered 
by transfers from retained earnings and from the share premium 
reserve.

Financial position
Total assets stood at NOK 26,546 thousand on 31 December 2012 
(NOK 68,603 thousand), of which current assets amounted to NOK 
24,277 thousand (NOK 65,010 thousand). Liquid assets accounted for 
most of the current assets and stood at NOK 18,446 thousand (NOK 
58,859 thousand) at the end of December 2012. Annual impairment 
testing of goodwill concluded with a decision to perform write down 
of the NOK 572 thousand goodwill balance. On 31 December 2012, 
the total value of inventories amounted to NOK 923 thousand (NOK 
915 thousand).

On 31 December 2012, equity was NOK 13,483 thousand (NOK 54,975 
thousand). On 31 December 2012, current liabilities were NOK 8,803 
thousand (NOK 8,094 thousand) and pension liabilities amounted to 
NOK 4,261 thousand (NOK 3,867 thousand). Other long-term debt 
relates to a loan to Innovation Norway, and total balance of the loan 
at 31 December 2012 is NOK 1,667 thousand, all of which is classified 
as current debt. 

The company had no distributable reserves as at 31 December 2012 
and consequently no dividends for 2012.

DiaGenic has not recognised deferred tax assets because of the 
uncertainty as to the company’s ability to take advantage of this tax 
benefit.

In 2012, the company did not capitalise development costs. The book 
value of capitalised development costs as at 31 December 2012 was 
NOK 553 thousand (NOK 888 thousand).

Cash flows
Net change in cash for 2012 amounted to NOK -40,413 thousand 
(NOK 39,979 thousand). The increase in loss before tax from 2011 to 
2012 was offset by changes in trade payable balances, and the 2012 
cash flow from operational activities was NOK -37,644 thousand (NOK 
-37,877 thousand). Net cash flow from financing in 2012 was NOK 

-2,626 thousand (NOK -1,957 thousand). The company’s liquid assets 
are held in bank deposits and amounted on 31 December 2012 to 
NOK 18,446 thousand (NOK 58,859 thousand).

Risk
For the most part, research and development of new diagnostic tests all 
the way to regulatory approval and sale is a risky and capital-intensive 
process. The business model is characterised by high risk and there is 
no guarantee that strategic deals or trade sale can be performed at 
terms acceptable to the shareholders, or that long term funding for in 
house development can be achieved, or that projects will achieve its 
planned end points and gain market acceptance.

The company has three types of risk factors that must be addressed: 
operational, financial and marketing.

DiaGenic has actively worked to create the best possible conditions 
for implementing projects and other operations in a balanced manner 
with regard to risk. Despite continuous efforts to balance the risk, 
there will always be factors which the company will not be able to 
influence. For example, there is a significant risk in connection with 
developing diagnostic tests. The risk exists through the entire course 
of development, even after regulatory approval has been given, and 
may be caused by problems related to clinical effectiveness, patient 
safety and patent protection.

DiaGenic’s products will be launched in markets where current 
diagnostic methods are based on concepts, technologies and 
procedures which are fundamentally different. The sale and marketing 
of new products involves significant risks. This relates to regulatory 
issues as well as to uncertainty about market conditions, including 
reimbursement.

The company’s financial risks include liquidity risk, credit risk, interest 
rate risk and currency risk, which is discussed in greater detail in 
Note 22 of the annual accounts. The most prominent financial risk is 
considered to be liquidity risk, related to the risk to obtain sufficient 
capital for continued operations. There is also a more detailed review 
of operational and market risk factors in Note 22.
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Outlook
Deliver on key short term product development milestones: Â

CE marking of ADtect® and MCItect® in Europe Â
Read out of the pilot study with GE Healthcare on AMYtect™ Â ™

Pre IDE meeting with the FDA to clarify the regulatory path towards FDA clearance of MCItect®  Â
in the US

To enter into additional collaborative agreements related to Alzheimer’s disease with major  Â
pharmaceutical companies
Proactively pursue three parallel tracks towards shareholder value creation following achievement  Â
of above product portfolio milestones: (i) achieve commercially meaningful partnership deals related 
to its validated products, (ii) attract additional financing for an in-house FDA clearance process with 
retained product rights, and (iii) consider a trade sale at a valuation attractive to its shareholders. 

Oslo, 20th of March 2013
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Report on corporate governance1. 

The Norwegian recommendations on good corporate governance are intend-
ed to strengthen confidence in listed companies and thereby contribute to 
the best possible value creation over time - for the benefit of shareholders, 
employees and other stakeholders. Observance of the recommendations is 
based on the “comply or explain” principle. DiaGenic’s board and manage-
ment has resolved as a main principle to follow the recommendations of the 
Norwegian Corporate Governance Code to the extent not considered unrea-
sonable du the company size. The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance can be found on: www.nues.no. DiaGenic will provide explana-
tions of non-compliance of the code if not fully implemented. 

DiaGenic has established corporate values, and the board has adopted guide-
lines for ethics. The guidelines mean that the company’s board and employ-
ees should have a high ethical standard in carrying out their work and their 
duties. DiaGenic’s guidelines for values and ethics concern the company’s 
dealings with various interest groups, but the company has not established 
guidelines specifically for social responsibility.

Business2. 
The objects clause in the Articles of Association provides as follows: The 
Company’s business is to develop, patent and sell products, technology and 
expertise for the diagnosis of disorders, ailments and diseases in people, ani-
mals and plants.

The company’s goal is the development and commercialisation of diagnostic 
products, with a view to maximising shareholder value. The company’s busi-
ness strategy is described in the annual report under “report from the board 
of directors”.

Capital and dividends3. 
DiaGenic has not yet generated a positive cash flow from its operations. The 
business is financed through equity, government grants and borrowing. Par-
ticular emphasis is being placed on securing finance through the stock mar-
ket until the company generates a positive cash flow from its operations. The 
Company does not expect to pay any dividend until the financial situation 
justifies such transactions.

The Board has a proxy to increase the share capital by up to NOK 1,250,000 
by issuing up to 2,500,000 new shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 
0.50. The pre-emptive rights of the existing shareholders under section 10-4 

of the Public Limited Liabilities Act may be set aside and the authorisation is 
valid until the Annual General Meeting in 2012. The authorisation does not 
comprise a decision to merge according to the Public Limited Liabilities Act 
section 13-5. The authorisation shall only be used to issue shares in connec-
tion with strategic partnerships for the Company.

Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with 4. 
related parties.

Equal treatment of all shareholders is at the heart of the company’s corpo-
rate governance. All shares in DiaGenic carry one vote and the shares are 
freely transferable. The company has only one share class and all sharehold-
ers have equal rights. Existing shareholders are given priority in the case of 
share capital increases, unless special circumstances warrant deviation from 
this principle. Such a deviation would then be justified. The company has no 
authorisations to repurchase its own shares.
 
Transactions between the company and related parties, including members of 
the board or persons employed by the company, either personally or through 
companies belonging to related parties, must be based on terms which can 
be achieved in an open, free and independent market or based on a third-
party valuation. Major transactions with related parties must be approved by 
the General Meeting. The board will report in its Annual Report the volume 
of any transactions with related parties.

Free transferability.5. 
The company’s shares are listed and are freely transferable. The Articles of 
Association contain no restrictions on transferability.

General Meeting6. 
Shareholders can exercise their rights in the General Meeting and the compa-
ny wants the General Meeting to be a meeting place for shareholders and the 
company’s board. The company will make it possible for as many sharehold-
ers as possible to participate in the General Meeting. Meeting documents 
will be sufficiently detailed and published on the company’s website not later 
than 21 days before the General Meeting. The company endeavours to en-
sure that meeting documents are detailed enough to enable shareholders to 
take a view on all matters to be considered. The deadline for notice of attend-
ance at General Meetings is set as close to the meeting as possible.

Shareholders who are unable to participate themselves may vote by proxy 
and a person can also be appointed to vote for the shareholders as a proxy. 
The proxy form should, as far as possible, be so designed that it can be used 
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for voting on each matter to be considered and on candidates for election.
The company will encourage board members to attend General Meetings. 
In addition, members of the Election Committee and external auditors are 
invited to attend the General Meeting. In 2012, the board’s chair and several 
board members were represented at the General Meetings, in addition to the 
chair of the Election Committee and the auditor.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the General Meeting is chaired 
by the board chair if no one else is elected chair. Minutes of General Meetings 
are published through stock exchange notifications and are thus made avail-
able on the company’s website.

Nomination Committee.7. 
In accordance with DiaGenic’s Articles, the General Meeting has established a 
Nomination Committee which consists of three members. Members must be 
shareholders or representatives of shareholders. The Nomination Commit-
tee prepares and proposes the nomination of board members to the General 
Meeting, and gives recommendations on director’s fees. No board members 
or representatives of the management are members of the Nomination Com-
mittee. Nomination Committee members are elected for a term of one year 
at a time.

Names of members of the Nomination Committee and the deadline for sub-
mitting proposals to the Committee can be found on the company’s website.

Corporate Assembly and board, composition and inde-8. 
pendence

DiaGenic has chosen not to have a corporate assembly due to the limited 
size of the company and the small number of employees. The functions of 
the corporate assembly have been transferred to the General Meeting and 
the board.

The board and board chair are elected by the General Meeting. The board is 
composed so as to cover in the best way possible the interests of all share-
holders and the company’s need for expertise, capacity and balanced deci-
sion-making and so as to function as an effective collegiate body. The board 
is elected for a term of one year at a time and board members may stand for 
re-election. The CEO is not a member of the board. According to the Articles, 
DiaGenic’s board must consist of 4-7 members. Since the 2012 General Meet-
ing, the board has had five members, two women and three men.
 
All Board members are considered to be independent from the company’s 

day-to-day management and important business connections. The compa-
ny’s shares are widely held and no controlling shareholders (i.e. shareholder 
holding in excess of 10 % of the issued shares). The board chair has an agree-
ment with the company to act as advisers in individual business processes. 
The board has implemented a guideline regarding potential consultative 
support to the Company by the Board members. According to the guideline 
the CEO shall request the consultative support and the board must endorse 
the request. All board members are therefore considered to be independ-
ent, despite the fact that some of them have carried out limited duties for 
which they have received remuneration at market levels (please see notes 
to the annual accounts). This ensures that the board members do not act as 
individual representatives of individual shareholders or other stakeholders. 
The board may assess the day-to-day management and significant contracts 
entered into by the company on an independent basis.

The board members represent a combination of expertise, capabilities 
and experience from finance, pharmaceutical and diagnostic industry. The 
board’s current composition is set out in the Annual Report, together with 
key information which highlights the directors’ expertise. The shareholdings 
of directors and senior management have been presented in the notes to the 
annual accounts.

The board’s work9. 
A plan for the board’s work is prepared every year. The board has also adopt-
ed board instructions and instructions for the CEO, detailing the work and re-
sponsibilities of the board and the CEO respectively. The board ensures that 
business is properly organised and that plans and budgets are prepared for 
the company’s business. The board plan and rules of procedure ensure that 
the board is kept informed about the company’s financial position, and that 
the business, asset management and accounts are subject to control.

The chair ensures that the board functions well and fulfils its obligations. The 
chair chairs board meetings and prepares board matters in cooperation with 
the Chief Executive Officer. The chair keeps minutes from board meetings and 
the minutes are approved and signed by all board members. In addition to or-
dinary board meetings, strategy meetings devoted to an in-depth assessment 
of major challenges and opportunities for the company are held on an annual 
basis. The board manages the company’s strategic planning, and assesses its 
strategy regularly.

The board appoints a deputy chair who can act when the chair either cannot 
or should not chair the board’s deliberations. This is particularly relevant in 
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situations where the chair participates in negotiations with the company’s 
partners in the pharmaceutical industry.
The board has considered establishing an Audit Committee and a Remunera-
tion Committee. Because of its size, the company has not used formal board 
committees so far. Thorough and independent assessment of financial re-
porting and the remuneration of senior management have been ensured by 
matters being considered by all the board members, with all members being 
considered independent of the day-to-day management.
 
The board evaluates its composition and board work at least once a year. The 
evaluation also covers the way in which the board functions, both individually 
and as a group, in relation to the objectives that have been set for its work. 
The evaluation report is presented to the Nomination Committee annually.

Risk management and internal control10. 
Risk management and internal control are important to DiaGenic in enabling 
it to achieve its strategic objectives and form an integral part of the man-
agement’s decision-making processes and are key elements of organisation, 
procedures and systems. Requirements for risk management and internal 
control have been evaluated by the management and board, and a set of 
appropriate systems established. In connection with this, emphasis is also 
placed on ensuring that the company operates within accepted ethical guide-
lines and values, including guidelines on how employees can communicate 
matters relating to illegal or unethical behaviour on the company’s part to the 
board. DiaGenic believes that values and control procedures meet social re-
sponsibility requirements in relation to the scope and nature of its business, 
but has not yet developed guidelines specifically for social responsibility.

DiaGenic operates in an industry which is well-regulated, which is why risk 
management is a natural part of the company’s operations. The company’s 
commercial products are covered by a quality system which covers all aspects 
of the organisation that may affect products. The company has also identi-
fied, mapped and documented significant risk factors, whether operational, 
commercial or financial risks. These risk factors are described in more detail 
in the notes to the annual accounts.

The company’s financial reporting complies with the laws and regulations 
which apply to a company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. In addition to 
external laws and regulations, there are basic procedures and guidelines re-
lated to financial reporting. At the end of every quarter the Board of Directors 
review the financial statements. In addition the Board of Directors review the 
Company’s financial position through frequent reporting and review in Board 

meetings. At least once a year the board assesses the company’s risk profile 
in terms of strategic, operational and transaction-related factors.

As a listed company, there is a special responsibility in connection with re-
quirements relating to insider trading rules, the provision of information and 
share trading. DiaGenic has guidelines which ensure that board members, 
senior management and other insiders follow relevant legislation and rules 
with regard to insider trading in the company’s shares.

Remuneration of the board11. 
DiaGenic’s General Meeting determines the remuneration of the Board based 
on a recommendation by the Nomination Committee. Remuneration of the 
Board must reflect the board’s expertise, time and the complexity of the busi-
ness as well as the fact that DiaGenic is a listed company. Remuneration is 
paid in the form of a fixed annual amount and is not tied to the company’s 
performance or share price.

 In 2012, the chair of the board discharged duties beyond purely manage-
ment duties in connection with a partnership agreement. The board is aware 
of the due diligence requirements that this entails in terms of information to 
be provided to the General Meeting, and any agreements between the com-
pany and its directors are approved by the board in its entirety. The board 
has implemented a guideline regarding potential consultative support to the 
Company by the Board members. According to the guideline the CEO shall 
request the consultative support and the board must endorse the request. 
Please also refer in this context to the assessment of the independence of 
the directors and board chair set out in section 8 above. Information on all 
remuneration paid to individual directors and the board chair is provided in 
the Annual Report.

Remuneration of senior management12. 
The board prepares guidelines for the remuneration of the company’s sen-
ior management. Guidelines for, and elements of, the remuneration of Chief 
Executive Officer and other senior executives are set out in the notes to the 
annual accounts. Guidelines for the remuneration of senior management 
must be submitted to the General Meeting. The board considers that the re-
muneration of the senior management is at market levels and that there are 
no unreasonable elements, for example, in connection with resignation or 
termination of employment.

Incentive schemes for the Chief Executive Officer and other employees are 
set out in the notes to the annual accounts. Incentive schemes cover all non-
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temporary employees, and have been submitted in detail for the General 
Meeting’s approval. The scheme is in the form of share options, of which 
1,227,000 share options has been allotted in 2012. Incentive schemes for em-
ployees have been so designed as to foster long-term positive ties with the 
company and a shared interest with the shareholders, without contributing 
to short-term employment which can be harmful to the company. There is a 
cap on the size of the remuneration which share options can bring. For more 
details on the share option programme see note 7 in the financial statements 
in the annual report.

Information and communication13. 
The company publishes a financial calendar on an annual basis, including 
the dates of General Meetings and dates for the presentation of interim re-
ports. All press releases and stock exchange notifications are posted on the 
company’s website www.diagenic.com. Stock exchange notifications are also 
available at www.newsweb.no.

The company complies with the laws and practice related to the disclosure 
requirement, including the requirements for equal treatment. The ability to 
give information about the company in addition to the published reports will 
be limited in accordance with stock exchange regulations. Any inside informa-
tion will only be given to persons other than primary insiders in cases where 
the company considers it necessary, and then on the basis of insider declara-
tions and the listing of insiders. The insider lists are maintained by the Chief 
Executive.

DiaGenic wishes to maintain a good, open dialogue with its shareholders, 
analysts and the stock market in general. The company holds regular presen-
tations for investors, analysts and shareholders. The company’s Chief Execu-
tive is responsible for information and investor relations. The Chief Executive 
and board chair may both speak on behalf of the company and delegate such 
authority as is appropriate in relevant cases.

Company takeovers14. 
In the event of a takeover, the company’s board and management will en-
deavour to ensure equal treatment of shareholders. The board will ensure 
that shareholders are given information and time to evaluate the bid and will 
endeavour to provide a recommendation to shareholders as to whether the 
bid should be accepted or not. The board and management will not hinder 
or obstruct take-over bids. The board and management will also ensure that 
there are no unnecessary disruptions to the business in the event of a takeo-
ver. Moreover, such a situation will be governed by the provisions applicable 

to listed companies.

Auditor15. 
The auditor attends the board meeting at which the annual financial state-
ments are reviewed, but the company has not held annual meetings with 
the board for the purpose of review of the company’s internal control proce-
dures, see section 10 above with regard to the internal control requirement. 
The auditor presents an annual audit plan to the board.

The board holds at least one annual meeting with the auditor without the 
presence of the CEO or other members of the day-to-day management.

The board has established guidelines for the management’s use of the audi-
tor for services other than auditing. The notes to the accounts state that use 
of the auditor for other services has been limited.

The fee payable to the auditor is specified in note 5 to the annual financial 
statements and is categorised in statutory audit and other services. Proposals 
for fees for statutory audit are submitted by the board to the General Meet-
ing for approval.
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Statement of comprehensive income

Operating income and operating expenses Note 2012 2011
Operating income 3 126 411 3 095 132
Total operating income 126 411 3 095 132

Cost of goods sold 667 409 2 139 728
Total cost of goods sold 667 409 2 139 728

Salaries and personnel expenses 5,7,17 25 216 004 23 643 492
Depreciation and amortisation 12,13,18 895 122 961 020
Impariment of intangible assets 12 572 437 0
Other operating expenses 4,5,9,19 14 726 843 13 371 613
Total operating expenses 41 410 406 37 976 126

Operating loss -41 951 404 -37 020 721

Financial income and financial expenses

Interest income 22 1 274 863 2 536 404
Agio 9,22 52 211 132 185
Interest expense 21,22 150 920 244 747
Agio loss 9,22 125 411 156 159
Net financial items 1 050 743 2 267 682
Pre-tax profit (loss) -40 900 661 -34 753 039
Tax for the year 10 0 0
Net profit (loss) -40 900 661 -34 753 039

Other comprehensive income 0 0
Comprehensive income -40 900 661 -34 753 039

Transfer and allocations
Transferred to retained earnings -40 900 661 -34 753 039
Transferred from other reserves 0 0
Total transfer and allocations -40 900 661 -34 753 039

Earnings per share -1.51 -1.29
Diluted earnings per share -1.51 -1.29
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Statement of financial position as of 31 December

Assets Note 2012 2011

Fixed assets
Intangible assets   
Goodwill 12 0 572 437
Software 12 552 599 887 903
Total intangible assets 552 599 1 460 340

Tangible assets
Machinery, equipment, fixtures and fittings etc. 13,18 1 716 477 2 133 346
Total tangible assets 1 716 477 2 133 346

Total fixed assets 2 269 076 3 593 686

Current assets
Inventory
Inventories 14 923 896 914 803

Receivables
Accounts receivable 21,22 71 816 53 480
Other receivables 21 4 835 831 5 182 899
Total receivables 4 907 647 5 236 378

Cash and cash equivalents 15 18 445 839 58 858 630

Total current assets 24 277 382 65 009 812

Total assets 26 546 458 68 603 498
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Statement of financial position as of 31 December

Equity and liabilities Note 2012 2011

Equity
Paid in capital
Share capital 16 13 511 826 13 511 826
Share premium reserve 40 503 887 75 979 062
Other capital reserves 367 448 237 233
Total paid in capital 54 383 161 89 728 120

Other equity 
Retained earnings -40 900 661 -34 753 039
Total other equity -40 900 661 -34 753 039

Total equity 13 482 500 54 975 081

Liabilities
Provisions
Pension liabilities 17 4 261 015 3 867 487
Total provisions 4 261 015 3 867 487

Long term debt
Other long term debt 18,21 0 1 666 667
Total long term debt 0 1 666 667

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 1 811 676 1 689 352
Public duties payable 1 831 914 1 553 769
Other current liabilities 21 5 159 353 4 851 143
Total current liabilities 8 802 943 8 094 264
Total liabilities 13 063 958 13 628 417

Total equity and liabilities 26 546 458 68 603 498
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Statement of cash flows

Cash from operating activities Notes 2012 2011
Loss before tax -40 900 661 -34 753 039
Taxes paid 0 0
Depreciation and amortisation 12,13,18 895 122 961 020
Write-downs of tangible fixed assets 12 572 437 0
Loss from sale of tangible fixed assets 0 0
Fair value granted option rights 367 448 237 233
Difference between pension expenses and payments to the pension plan 393 528 783 120
Change in inventories 14 -9 093 63 381
Change in trade payable 122 325 -4 928 273
Changes in other current assets and other liabilities 21 915 086 -240 806
Net cash flow from operating activities -37 643 808 -37 877 365

Cash from investment activities
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 0 0
Investment in tangible fixed assets 12,13 -142 949 -144 862
Net cash flow from investment activities -142 949 -144 862

Cash from financing activities
Net cash flow from share issue - negativ amount is share issue expenses -959 367 -105 550
Net cash from long term liabilities 0 0
Payment of long term debt 21 -1 666 667 -1 851 698
Net cash flow from financing activities -2 626 034 -1 957 248

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -40 412 791 -39 979 474
Cash balance as of January 1st 15 58 858 631 98 838 105
Cash balance as of 31st of December 18 445 839 58 858 630
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Statement of changes in equity

Number of 
shares Share capital

 Share prem.
reserve Other reserve Other equity Total equity

Equity as of 31st of December 2010 27 023 652 13 511 826 117 718 742 187 293 -41 821 423 89 596 438

Allocation of net loss 2010 -41 634 130 -187 293 41 821 423 0
Fair value granted options 237 233 237 233
Share issue expence -105 550 -105 550
Retained earnings -34 753 039 -34 753 039
Equity as of 31st of December 2011 27 023 652 13 511 826 75 979 062 237 233 -34 753 039 54 975 081

Allocation of net loss 2011 -34 515 807 -237 233 34 753 039 0
Fair value granted options 367 448 367 448
Share issue expence -959 367 -959 367
Retained earnings -40 900 661 -40 900 661
Equity as of 31st of December 2012 27 023 652 13 511 826 40 503 888 367 448 -40 900 661 13 482 500

Costs related to share issues in 2010 are booked as a reduction of share premium reserve in 2011 with NOK 105,550.
Costs related to planed share issue in 2013 are booked as a reduction of share premium reserve in 2012 with NOK 959.367.
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Note 1 - Company information

DiaGenic ASA (org. no 979 938 799) was formed in 1998 and is a Norwegian 
public limited company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. The company’s 
head office is in Grenseveien 92, NO-0663 Oslo, Norway. 

DiaGenic ASA develops diagnostic tests for the early detection of diseases 
based on gene expression signatures in blood samples. DiaGenic focus on 
Alzheimer’s disease.

Note 2 - Accounting principles and estimates 

2.1 Basis for the preparation of the annual accounts
The company’s annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which are approved by 
EU.

Accounts are based on the principles of historical cost 

The financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner, which is also the 
functional currency of the company.

The annual accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 20th of 
March 2013.

2.2 The use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements require the management to make 
assessments and to prepare estimates and assumptions that influence 
amounts recognised in the accounts for assets and obligations, revenues 
and expenses. Estimates and related assumptions are based on the best of 
the management’s knowledge of historical and relevant events, experience 
and other factors that seem reasonable under the circumstances. The 
actual results may deviate from such assumptions. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are subject to continuous assessment. Critical accounting 
estimates for DiaGenic are as follows:

Pensions:
The present value of the pension obligation depends on the actuarial 
company-specific and financial assumptions. All changes in the assumptions 
will influence the calculated pension obligation and the future costs. 
Calculations of pension liabilities are done according to IFRS (IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits), and the Norwegian Actuary Association standard for actuary 
technical calculations. The assumptions are according to the Guidance 

of pension assumptions (January 2013) from the Norwegian Accounting 
Institution. The Guidance of pension assumptions is used as a basis for 
DiaGenic’s company-specific assumptions. The discount rate for 2012 is 
determined under the guidance of NRS and based on the market rate for 
bonds (OMF) and consider the market for OMF to be sufficiently deep / liquid 
for use as the basis for the discount rate under IAS 19

Share-based remuneration:
The fair value of employee options is calculated on their grant date. The 
fair value is calculated using Black & Scholes - Merton option pricing model. 
All variables included in this model are stipulated on the issue date for the 
options. Significant factors include the time that elapses from the grant date 
to the first possible exercise date, the share’s volatility, the risk-free interest 
rate, the share price on the issue date, the exercise price and the lifetime 
of the option. Costs relating to share-based remuneration are expensed 
over the vesting period. In connection with the accrual of costs, estimates 
will be made with respect to the future retirement rate. These estimates will 
be updated on each balance sheet date. Changes in estimates will influence 
costs relating to share-based remuneration in the period in question.

Accounting treatment of the deferred tax asset:
DiaGenic provides for expected tax obligations on the basis of estimates. 
When the final outcome deviates from the estimates that are basis for the 
original provision, the deviations will affect the tax expense and the provision 
for deferred tax in the period in which the decision is made. The deferred tax 
asset of loss carry forwards is included when it is probable that the loss carry 
forward can be utilized. Historical earnings and expected future earnings will 
be used as the basis for assessing probability in this context.

Goodwill:
In accordance with IFRS the company tests annually whether it is necessary 
to write down capitalised goodwill. The value of the cash generating unit will 
be stipulated as the recoverable amount, which is the higher of net sales 
value and utility value. The estimated recoverable amount is calculated 
on the basis of the present value of budgeted cash flows. The calculation 
requires the use of estimates relating to future cash flows. Uncertainty will 
normally attach to budgeted cash flows. Events, changes in assumptions and 
management assessments will all affect the evaluation of write-downs in the 
relevant period.
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2.3 Accounting principals 
Principals for revenue 
Revenue is recognized when it is likely that transactions will generate future 
economic benefits that will accrue to the company, and when the amount 
and size can be estimated reliably. Sale of products are recognized at delivery 
time, i.e. when both the control and risk is mainly transferred to buyer. 
Revenue from services rendered is recognized in the income statement in the 
period the service is performed. License revenues are recognized in line with 
the licensee sales of licensed products or use of licensed technology. 

Research and development
Research activities are defined as activities whose purpose is to generate new 
technological understanding or knowledge. Costs relating to clearly defined 
development projects that are considered technically feasible and for which 
sufficient resources are available are capitalised when it is substantiated 
that there is a connection between the incurred costs and future earnings. 
Sufficient substantiation is deemed to exist when necessary regulatory 
approvals for sales and marketing are in place, and when future economic 
benefits are supported through estimates. Research and development costs 
consist of costs relating to the company’s own research and laboratory 
department, costs relating to the purchase of external laboratory- and 
research services and clinical studies. Capitalised development costs are 
recognised at cost price after the deduction of accumulated depreciation and 
write-downs. The capitalised value is amortised over the period of expected 
future earnings from the related project. Gains and losses that arise on the 
sale of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
proceeds of the sale and the book value on the transaction date.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted according to the purchase method. The 
remuneration of an acquisition is measured at fair value. Transaction costs 
are expensed as incurred. Assets and liabilities are recognized at fair value 
on the transaction. Acquisitions of businesses are recognised at fair value. 
Goodwill is the excess value of the difference between the acquisition cost 
on acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets relating to the 
acquisition, including intangible assets and obligations that arise as a result 
of the transaction. Goodwill is recognised in the balance sheet at acquisition 
cost less any accumulated losses resulting from impairment. Goodwill is 
allocated to cash generating unit and is not depreciated, but tested annually 
for impairment.  

Government grants
Government grants are recognized in the income statement when there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and that the terms that 
are related to the grant are met. Accounting for the grant is recognized on a 
systematic basis over the grant period. Contributions are classified as a cost 
reduction and are recognized at the same time with the cost to reduce.

Employee benefits
Pensions
The Company has defined benefit pension scheme for its employees. 
Pension costs and pension liabilities are calculated straight line earnings 
model based on the discounted rate, future increases in salaries, pensions 
and compensation from the state, the expected return on pension fund and 
actuarial assumptions regarding mortality, voluntary retirement, etc. The 
defined benefit obligation is calculated by an independent actuary and is 
measured as the present value of estimated future pension payments. The 
pension costs charged to the income statement so that the regular costs are 
spread over employees’ expected service period. The net pension costs are 
classified as salaries and personnel costs. Net pension liability is recorded as 
a liability. Pension assets are valued at market value and are deducted from 
net pension liabilities in the balance. Changes in defined benefit obligations 
due to changes in pension plans are distributed over the remaining estimated 
average accrual period. Cumulative effect of changes in estimates and 
changes in financial and actuarial assumptions (actuarial gains and losses) 
less than 10% of the greater of the defined benefit obligations and plan assets 
at beginning of year is not recognized. When the accumulated effect exceeds 
10%, the excess is recognized over the expected average remaining service 
period in the result.

Share-based remuneration
The Company has an option program for employees in shares. Options 
granted to employees are measured at fair value at grant date. The fair value 
of the options is recognized over the vesting period. Latent social security tax 
relating to the option intrinsic value is calculated on the basis of the market 
price at balance sheet date. Social security tax is based on the difference 
between intrinsic value and the exercise price on the balance sheet date, 
adjusted for the period before social security tax is applied. Estimates of 
latent social security tax is updated each balance sheet date. Fair value is 
calculated using the Black Scholes Merton option pricing model. The valuation 
is based on assumptions about the volatility of DiaGenic share, expectations 
about future exercise of the option and risk-free rate. Volatility is estimated 
by observing the historical fluctuations in share price. In assessing the future 
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life of the option rights is the assumption that the licensee will exercise the 
options in the middle of exercise period.

Tax
The tax expense in the income statement comprises of the tax payable for the 
period and of the change in deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at a rate 
of 28% on the basis of temporary differences that exist between accounting 
and tax values, as well as any tax loss carry forward at the end of the financial 
year. The deferred tax asset is recognised if it is probable that the company will 
have a sufficient tax profit to be able to utilise the tax asset. On each balance 
sheet date, the company will review any deferred tax asset not recognised 
in the income statement. The company recognises deferred tax assets not 
previously recognised in the accounts insofar as it has become probable that 
the company can utilise the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company will 
reduce the deferred tax asset insofar as it can no longer utilise it. Deferred tax 
and the deferred tax asset are calculated on the basis of expected future tax 
rates if temporary differences have arisen. Deferred tax and the deferred tax 
asset are recognised at their nominal value and are classified as fixed assets 
or long-term liabilities in the balance sheet. Unused loss carry forwards from 
before a business was acquired are recognised as deferred tax assets when 
it is expected that the loss can be utilised. Subsequent recognition in the 
balance sheet will entail a reduction in identified goodwill.

Tangible assets and software 
Tangible assets are recognised at cost price after deduction for accumulated 
depreciation and any write-downs. The assets are depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the expected useful life of the asset. Costs of direct 
maintenance on the operating assets are expensed as they are incurred 
under Operating expenses, while additional spending or improvements are 
added to the asset’s cost price and depreciated in step with depreciation 
of the asset. The depreciation period and -method and potential residual 
value are assessed annually to ensure that the method and period used are 
in accordance with the economic realities of the asset. The same applies 
correspondingly to the residual value.

Software
Expenses related to the purchase of new software is capitalized as an 
intangible asset, if these expenses are not part of the acquisition cost of the 
hardware. Software is normally depreciated linearly over 5 years. Expenses 
incurred due to service or maintain the future use of the software is expensed 
unless the changes in the software increase the future economic benefits of 
the software.

Receivables
Receivables are recognised at amortised cost. The interest element is ignored 
if it is insignificant.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing cost will be amortized over the term of the loan. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, bank deposits and all other monetary 
items due within three months or less. No overdraft facilities are used by the 
Company. 

Impairment of assets
An assessment of impairment loss on other assets is made when there is an 
indication of fall in value. Independent on whether there are indications of a 
fall in value, goodwill shall be tested annually against the recoverable amount. 
If an asset’s carrying amount is greater than the recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss will be recognised in the income statement. The recoverable 
amount is the greater of the net sales price and the discounted cash flow from 
continued use. The net sales price is the amount that can be obtained on sale 
to an independent third party minus sales costs. The recoverable amount 
is stipulated separately for all assets, but if this is not possible, together 
with the unit to which the asset belongs. With the exception of goodwill, 
impairment loss recognised in the income statement in previous periods will 
be reversed when information exists to indicate that the write-down is no 
longer necessary or that the need is no longer as great. Write-downs as a 
result of falls in value are only reversed insofar as the carrying amount of the 
asset does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been stipulated 
net after depreciation or amortisation if no loss as a result of a fall in value 
had been recognised previously. The reversal of previous impairment loss is 
recognised when a reduced need for a write-down can be related to an event 
after the impairment loss has been recognised. An increase in the carrying 
amount is only recognised insofar as it does not exceed what the amortised 
cost would have been if the write-down had not been made.

Foreign exchange risk and currency 
The Company is exposed to financial risks associated with changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The company uses no financial derivative instruments with 
the purpose of speculating in currency. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to functional currency (NOK) 
to the exchange rate on the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains / losses 
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arising from changes in exchange rate between the transaction date and 
payment date is recorded as financial income / expense in the Statement 
of comprehensive income. On the balance sheet date monetary items in 
foreign currency are converted to exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary items are capitalized at historical exchange rate on the 
transaction date. 

DiaGenic plans to generate revenue and make purchases of goods and services 
in foreign currency. Fluctuations in the exchange rate against the NOK may 
have an effect on the company’s revenues and expenses. The company has a 
rule to not use financial instruments, but at a later date, it is possible that the 
Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to ensure greater 
individual items affecting the cash flow.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit/loss for the year by the 
corresponding weighted average of the number of outstanding shares during 
the reporting period. The key figure ‘diluted earnings per share’ is based on 
the same calculation as for earnings per share, but it also takes into account 
all potential shares that have been outstanding during the period, and which 
will have a diluting effect. Potential shares relate to agreements that confer 
the right to issue shares in future. When the company reports a negative 
result, the effect of potential shares is disregarded so that the calculation is 
the same as for earnings per share. 

Objectives, policies and processes for managing capital
DiaGenic’s objective is to manage the capital structure to safeguard the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other shareholders. 
DiaGenic sets the size of capital in proportion to business strategy, risk and 
financial marked conditions. The company manages the capital structure 
and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions, 
perceived risk associated with product development and risk characteristics 
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
DiaGenic may adjust the amount of new share issue, dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, and sell assets to reduce debt 
or increase the debt by taking up loans

Provision, conditional obligations and assets
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
assumed) as a result of events that have occurred and it is probable, even if it 
is highly unlikely. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and the 

level reflects the best estimate. When the effect is significant provisions are 
calculated by discounting expected cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market time value of money and if appropriate the risks specific 
to the liability. Increase in provision as a result of the time, is presented as 
interest expense.

Information is provided about material contingent liabilities with the exception 
of contingent liabilities for were the probability is highly unlikely. A conditional 
asset is not recognised in the annual accounts, but information is provided if 
there is a possibility that an advantage will accrue to the company. 

Events after the balance sheet date
New information about the company’s positions on the balance sheet date 
is taken into account in the annual accounts. Information is provided about 
events after the balance sheet date that do not affect the company’s position 
on the balance sheet date, but which will affect the company’s future position 
if this is essential information.

Segment reporting
Since the company was founded it has defined just one operating segment, 
which is research, development, sales and marketing of blood based gene 
expression tests. The current segmentation best reflects how the business 
is managed.

Leasing
Leasing contracts are classified as financial or operational following a 
separate review of each individual contract. Operational leasing contracts are 
expensed using the straight-line method over the contract period. Operating 
assets financed by financial leasing are capitalised and depreciated using 
the straight-line method over their expected useful life. The leasing debt 
is deemed to be a long-term liability and the liability is reduced through 
repayment of the leasing contract. DiaGenic may use operational leasing 
when there are financial or operational benefits.

Lease agreements where essentially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are transferred to the lessee are classified as a financial lease. Financial leases 
are presented as long-term debt and fixed assets. Rental costs are expensed 
as an annuity, whereby the interest element is included in interest expense, 
while the instalments reduce long-term debt.

Cash flow statement
The company uses the indirect method for the presentation of the cash flow 
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statement. 

Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net selling price. Inventory is 
valued on the FIFO principle. Obsolescence is considered for inventory and 
write down performed on obsolete goods. 

2.4 New accounting standards
IFRS is constantly evolving. Below are listed the new standards at 31 December 
was announced but not yet effective for the financial year 1 January - 31 
December 2011, and new and amended standards the IASB’s effective date 
has passed, but where that can not be used because they still have not been 
approved by the EU which are considered and relevant to the company.

The following new and revised standards and statements, which apply to the 
fiscal years beginning 1 January 2012, is implemented in the annual report 
for 2012:

Adopted IFRSs and IFRIC’s with future effective date

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits
After the changes in 2011 IAS 19 doesn’t allow use of the “corridor method” 
for accounting of estimate deviations. Estimate deviations shall now be 
recognized in full in the statement of comprehensive income in the period 
they arise. The change also means that the pension cost is split between 
ordinary income and other income and expenses. Expected return on pension 
assets shall be calculated using the discount rate calculated by the gross 
pension liability. The periods net accrued pension rights and net interest 
expense is presented during the regular results, while “remeasurements” 
so that estimate deviations are presented in other income and expense in 
comprehensive income. Moreover, the disclosure requirements related to 
defined benefit pension plans changed. The changes apply with effect for 
financial years starting 1st of January 2013 or later. The company will apply 
the revised standard from 1st of January 2013. Termination of the corridor 
method will reduce the company’s equity by NOK 2,006,513 as at 1st of 
January 2013. The effect of unamortized estimate deviation per 31.12.11 
(loss TNOK 2 006) and 31.12.12 (gain TNOK 2 966). The loss will reduce the 
equity and a gain will increase the equity.  

IFRS 1 - Amendment: Severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates for 
first time adopters 
Guidance for severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates in IFRS 1 

relating to derecognition and “Day 1” gains and replaced them with the date 
of transition to IFRS.

IFRS 7 - New disclosures - Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities 
The purpose of the new disclosure requirements is that users of the accounts 
to assess the impact or potential impact on the financial position of setoff 
agreements for financial instruments, and to ensure that users have great 
opportunities for analysis and comparison of financial statements prepared 
under IFRS and U.S. GAAP, despite for the large differences in the rules for 
the offsetting of financial instruments that we have under IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP. These changes imply that companies are obliged to provide a range 
of quantitative data, and it is expected that efforts to obtain the necessary 
information could be very challenging, especially for certain financial 
institutions. The disclosure requirements apply to all recognized financial 
instruments that have been offset in accordance with IAS 32

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 will replace the existing IAS 39. The project is divided into several 
phases. The first phase related to the classification and measurement rules 
are finalized by the IASB. In this first phase it emerges from the IFRS 9 that 
financial assets that contain common covenants are recorded at amortized 
cost, unless one chooses to carry them at fair value, while other financial 
assets should be accounted for at fair value. Classification and measurement 
rules for financial liabilities in IAS 39 be continued, except for financial 
liabilities designated at fair value with changes through profit or loss (fair 
value option), where the value related to own credit risk is separated out 
and taken over other revenues and expenses. IFRS 9 is effective for fiscal 
year beginning 1st of January 2015 or later, but the EU has not approved the 
standard. Earlier application is permitted if the EU approves the standard. The 
company expects to apply IFRS 9 from 1st of January 2015. It is not expected 
that the implementation of the standard will have a significant impact on the 
financial statements.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The standard sets out principles and guidance for fair value measurement 
of assets and liabilities other standards require or permit measured at fair 
value. IFRS 13 is effective for fiscal years beginning 1st of January 2013 or 
later. Earlier application is permitted if the EU approves the standard. The 
company expects to apply IFRS 13 from 1st of January 2013. It is not expected 
that the implementation of the standard will have a significant impact on the 
financial statements.
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Note 3 - Segments

DiaGenic has defined one primary segment, which is determined by the type of business activities the Company are in, and how these business activities are 
managed. The Company’s activities are focused around research and development of blood-based gene expression tests within the Alzheimer’s disease area. 
DiaGenic had operating revenues of NOK 126 thousand in 2012 (NOK 3,095 in 2011). 

Note 4 - Public grants - figures in NOK

Public grants: 2012 2011
The Research Council of Norway - BIA Parkinson 1 190 963 1 141 965
The Research Council of Norway - microRNA 70 000
SPIDIA - Seventh Framework Programme 654 644 2 103 878
SkatteFUNN 1 244 630 1 340 727
Total public grants 3 160 237 4 586 570

Public grants are based on reimbursement of actual personnel expenses, laboratory costs and other project-related costs. The company is not aware
that there is unfulfilled conditions associated with these public subsidies. SkatteFUNN is conditional to the tax assessment for 2012. Public grants are
recognised in the accounts as a deduction of operating expenses. 

Note 5 - Salaries and personnel expenses, number of employees, remuneration - figures in NOK

Salaries and personnel expenses: 2012 2011
Salaries 18 732 677 17 713 129
Reimbursement -2 051 -20 108
Accrued social security tax 3 020 238 2 781 562
Pension expense 2 703 040 2 538 335
Fair value of granted options 367 448 237 233
Other payroll expenses 394 653 393 342
Total 25 216 004 23 643 492

Average number of employees 19 21

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendment to IAS 1 was a requirement to group the revenues and expenses in the statement of comprehensive income on the basis of whether they 
could potentially be reclassified to the income statement or not. The changes apply with effect for financial years starting 1st of July 2012 or later. Earlier 
application is permitted if the EU approves the changes. The company expects to apply the revised standard from 1st of January 2013. It is not expected that 
the implementation of the standard will have a significant impact on the financial statements.

IAS 1 – Amendment: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 
The amendment to IAS 1 means that Companies must group the items under “other revenues and expenses” (Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)), based on 
the records in subsequent periods can be reclassified over the result.
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Remuneration of leading 
personnel 2011 Salary Bonus

Pension 
expense 1)

Re-muneration 
of the Board

Other 
re-muneration

Total 
re-muneration

Numbers 
of Share 

Subscription 
rights

Value Share  
Subscription 

rights
Management team:
Erik Christensen, CEO 1 643 097 379 194 143 651 0 22 637 2 188 579 120 000 287 808
Erik Christensen, 
CEO, Top-Hat pension 2)

266 302 266 302

Praveen Sharma, 
Director Intellectual Property

1 059 118 0 121 588 0 13 891 1 194 597 16 000 38 374

Magnus Sjögren, 
Chief Medical Officer 3)

448 452 0 40 611 0 82 851 571 914 40 000 95 936

Morten Sten Johansen,
International Business Dir.

1 080 444 102 847 73 983 0 14 147 1 271 421 40 000 95 936

Ruben Ekbråten, 
Chief Financial Director

1 028 091 0 89 043 0 12 146 1 129 280 40 000 95 936

Edith Rian, Operations Director 907 112 0 107 066 0 14 230 1 028 408 40 000 95 936
Total management team 6 432 616 482 041 575 942 0 159 902 7 650 501 296 000 709 926

The Board:
Henrik Lund, Chairman 4) 450 000 300 000 750 000 0 0
Ingrid Beichmann Wiik 100 000 0 100 000 0 0
Gustav Ingemar Kihlström 5) 60 000 117 528 177 528 0 0
Mina Loise Blair 60 000 0 60 000 0 0
Maria Birgitte Holmlund 60 000 0 60 000 0 0
Atul Damji Shah 0 0 0 0 0
Praveen Sharma, IP Director 0 0 0 0 0
Total the Board 730 000 417 528 1 147 528 0 0

Pension costs are service cost provided by the insurance company.1) 
Pension amendment/Top-Hat NOK 266,302. 2) 
Employed from 1st of September3) 
Other payments to Cornucopia AS, by Henrik Lund, are payments for consultancy services. 4) 
Other payments to Ingemar Kihlström AB, by Gustav Ingemar Kihlström are payments for consultancy services. 5) 
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Remuneration of 
leading personnel 2012 Salary Bonus

Pension 
expense 1)

Re-muneration 
of the Board

Other 
re-muneration

Total 
re-muneration

Numbers of 
options

Value of 
options

Management team:
Paul de Potocki, CEO 2) 542 501 0 39 563 0 4 210 586 274 1 000 000 1 024 900
Paul de Potocki, CEO, Top-Hat pension 
2)

59 915 59 915 0

Erik Christensen, previous CEO 3) 1 864 832 250 000 95 120 0 12 950 2 222 902 0 0
Erik Christensen, previous CEO, 
Top-Hat pension

133 151 0 0 0 133 151 0 0

Magnus Sjögren, CMO 1 441 169 0 148 867 0 15 912 1 605 948 85 000 142 057
Ruben Ekbråten, CFO 1 076 881 0 103 692 0 11 188 1 191 761 85 000 142 057
Edith Rian, Operations Director 5) 590 797 0 69 498 6 854 667 149 0 0
Morten Sten Johansen, International 
Business Dir. 6)

730 230 0 65 481 0 5 701 801 412 0 0

Total management team 6 439 476 250 000 522 220 0 56 815 7 268 511 1 170 000 1 309 013

The Board:
Henrik Lund, chairman 4) 732 196 445 500 60 000 1 237 696 0 0
Gustav Ingemar Kihlström 110 000 0 110 000 0 0
Ingrid Beichmann Wiik 130 000 0 130 000 0 0
Ulrica Slåne 0 0 0 0 0
Tom Edward Pike 110 000 0 110 000 0 0
Total the Board 905 500 60 000 1 697 696 0 0

Pension costs are service cost provided by the insurance company.1) 
Employed from 17st of September 2012. CEO has an agreement for a pension that amounts to 20% of fixed salary. This arrangement is not possible 2) 
through pension and insurance schemes, thus the difference between the pension scheme and the agreement is paid out addition to the regular salary 
for the CEO.
Resigned on 17th of April 2012. 12 months’ salary with deduction upon new position has been agreed between Erik Christensen and the Board of 3) 
Directors. The agreement was expensed in total in Q2. 
Other re-muneration to Cornucopia AS, by Henrik Lund, are payments for consultancy services. Salary is for the period 17th April to 17th September 4) 
when he was interim CEO. The ordinary remuneration of Chairman is NOK 330,000. If the chairman’s work exceeds 200 hours, the excess time spent in 
addition compensated with NOK 1,500 per hour,
Employed to 31st of July 2012.5) 
Employed to 31st of August 2012. 6) 
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Guidelines for remuneration of the Managing Director and the company’s managment team
Leading employees is in this regard defined as the DiaGenic Managment Team. 

The remuneration packages are designed to attract, motivate and retain leading employees of the necessary calibre and to reward them for enhancing value 
to shareholders. Total remuneration for leading employees consists of a market based fixed salary, a few common fringe benefits and share options. Bonuses 
are considered and provided for selected individuals whose extraordinary effort or achievement of performance objectives can be measured through clearly 
defined results parameters/KPIs. Results parameters/KPIs include both financial performance targets set for DiaGenic as well as individual performance 
targets tied to the individual’s area of responsibility. Paul de Potocki and Magnus Sjögren has a bonus arrangement equivalent to 25 % of basic salary at 
achieved results. In addition, Magnus Sjögren is entitled to a success fee, calculated as a percentage share of the partner deal, in partner deals where his 
involvment has been instrumental in the process. A success fee is subject to approval by the CEO and the Board.

At the company’s ordinary General Meeting on 23rd of May 2011 it was resolved to implement an incentive scheme in the form share options. The CEO 
and the other leading employees are members of the Company’s pension and insurance scheme that applies to all employees. In addition the CEO has 
an agreement for a retirement pension of 20 % of fixed salary. This arrangement is not possible through the company’s pension scheme, thus is this a 
supplementary benefit/Top-Hat paid in addition to ordinary salary to the CEO. Term of notice is 3 months for all employees, including the CEO, except 
Mangus Sjögren that has 6 months. The CEO is entitled to 12 months saverance pay if dismissed by the Board of Directors. No other employees are entitled 
to saverance pay. 

Options and Subscription rights programs
In the companys’ general meeting on 17th of September 2012 it issued options. See note 7.

Loans and security furnished to leading personnel, shareholders etc.
There are no loans or guarantees been given to the CEO, members of the Board or their related parties. 

Auditor fees

Fees to the auditor - Ernst & Young AS 2012 2011
Statutory auditing services 178 129 175 000
Attestation services 15 000 31 000
Non-auditing services 13 000 28 500
Total 206 129 234 500

Amounts are exclusive VAT. 

Note 6 - Related parties

All transactions and agreements are made on commercial terms from the market for goods and services. For more details regarding transactions with related 
parties see note 5. 
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Note 7 - Share option programme - figures in NOK

The company’s share option schemes cover the company’s employees.
At the general meeting 23rd of May 2011 and 14th of August 2012 it was approved an incentive scheme in the form of share options. The key principles in the 
share option programme are as follows; a total of 2,040,000 options with grants in 2011, 2012 and 2013 and with 3 years vesting per grant that equivalent to 
approx. 7,55 % of the share capital. The exception was for 1,000,000 options for the CEO which was made in one grant in 2012, rather than 3 grants. Strike 
price equals market price + 10 % at the grant date. The programme encompasses all employees and it is structured with a basic level for all employees, and 
three additional levels to reflect the level of responsibility. Allotments in excess of the basic level are connected with performance criteria.

Option terms are as follows:
Vesting: Provided that the participant is continuously employed by the Company, all options granted vest three (-3 -) years from the grant date.

Term: Subject to earlier termination, all options exercised within four (-4 -) years from the grant date.

Redemption Period: The options can be exercised in certain redemption periods set by the board. A redemption period will normally extend over
5 working days and start after the company has presented its quarterly report.

Cap: The maximum benefit for the participant achieved if the fair market value per share equals or exceeds ten (-10 -) times the exercise price of
the redemption date. If the fair market value per share exceeds ten (-10 -) times the exercise price, the participant should repay
excess profit to the company in the wake of the relevant exercise period.

Social security tax: The company is liable for social security tax incurred up to the fair market value per share equal to (-3 -) times strike price. Additional 
social security tax that accrue where fair market value per share exceeds three (-3 -) times the exercise price must be covered by the option holder. Exercise 
of stock options in an exercise period are always conditional on the Board has the necessary authority to carry out the delivery of
shares. If the board does not have the necessary proxys, shall exercised option be settled with cash payment equivalent to
the excessed of the fair market value per share over the exercise price, multiplied by the number of options exercised.

In calculation of fair value is the Black & Scholes - Merton pricing model been used. The following parameters are used in the valuation of the options:

Share options was granted in 2012 as part of this program. 1,227,000 share options was granted on September 17th 2012 with expiry date of September 17th 
2016. Strike/Excercise price for this grant was set to NOK 3.25 per share.

Share price at grant date
In the calculation and simulation it have been used the market value / closing share price at the grant date of 5.9.11 which was NOK 5,91 and for th 17.9.12 
it was NOK 2,92.
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Vesting period / Option life
It is assumed that the options in an average will be exercised in the middle of the period between vesting date and expiry date - which gives the options a
life of 3.5 years.

Volatility
The volatility is calculated to be 93.69% for the 5.9.11 and 92,04 % for the one on 17.9.12 based on historical voality for a period equivalent to the expected 
lifetime of the option.

Risk free interest rate
The term of the rates should be equal to the expected term of the option being valued. For options quoted in NOK, rates from Norges Bank on Grant Date 
are used (Bonds and Certificates). Where there is no exact match between the term of the interest rates and the term of the options, interpolation is used 
to achieve a comparable term. It was used a interest on 1,63 % for the 5.9.11 and for the 17.9.12 it was used 1,47 %. 

Expected dividend
In the calculation it is not taken consideration to dividend. 

Cap
Cap 1: When the share price exceeds 3 times strike, the employees are to cover social taxes.
Cap 2: When the share price exceeds 10 times strike, the employee receives no further option gain. 
This is incorporated in the calculation of fair value. 

Attrition 
In the calculation we have anticipated that none of the option holders leaves the company.If attrition is expected, the accruing of cost will be different. 
However, it is the final amount of vested options that shall be expensed, and this attrition will be adjusted at regular intervals so that eventually all vested 
options will be expensed.

Expensing the option value
The total value of the grant is expensed over the corresponding vesting period. 

The Board has issued 1,227,000 options to employees in 2012, offer proceedings by the general meeting.

For the option program it is expensed NOK 367,448. The expense has no equity effect since the expense and profit allocation totally does not affect the 
equity. The calculatedexpenses have no liquidity effect for the company.
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Exercise price in NOK
Fair value 

of options in NOK Number of options
Number of issued options 1.1.2011 0

Grant of options 5.9.11 6,00 1 036 109 432 000
Number of issued options at 31.12.2011 1 036 109 432 000

Number of options at 1.1.2012 1 036 109 432 000
Expired options -479 680 -200 000
Grant of options September 17.9.2012 3,25 1 257 552 1 227 000
Number of options at 31.12.2012 1 813 981 1 459 000

Note 8 - Research and development - figures in NOK

Expensed research costs: 2012 2011
Research (gross before deduction of public grants) 19 848 941 16 927 711
Public grants 3 160 237 4 586 570
Net expensed research cost 16 688 704 12 341 141

Of the above amount, NOK 15,055,335 concerns payroll expenses and NOK 4,793,606 relates to operation of the company’s laboratory, fees to external 
research institutions and patent costs. In the income statement these expenses are presented as payroll expenses and other operating expenses. 

It is not capitalized development costs in 2012, when the requirements for recognition under IAS 38.57 is not met.

Note 9 - Specification of accounting items - figures in NOK

Specification of other operating expenses: 2012 2011
Office premises etc. 2 762 460 2 678 234
Administrative costs 3 155 748 4 002 441
Professional fees 6 047 167 5 636 600
Patent costs 1 480 412 1 550 630
Travel expenses 1 067 414 1 243 539
Research grants - note 8 -3 160 237 -4 586 570
Laboratory costs 3 373 878 2 846 740
Total other operating expenses 14 726 843 13 371 613

Agio:
Agio gain -52 211 -132 185
Agio loss 125 411 156 159
Net agio: 73 200 23 975
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Note 10 - Tax expense - figures in NOK

The year’s taxable income: 2012 2011
Pre-tax loss -40 900 661 -34 753 039
Permanent differences:
Representation, kontingents, interest tax, etc. 195 765 194 834
Option expenses 367 448 237 233
Share issue expenses -959 367 -105 550
Tax grant(SkatteFunn) -1 244 630 -1 340 727
Change in temporary differences 1 052 614 788 385
The year’s taxable income -41 488 831 -34 978 864

Nominal tax rate 28% 28%
Non-booked increase in deferred tax benefit -11 911 605 -10 014 830

The year’s tax expense is calculated as follows:
28% of loss before tax -11 452 185 -9 730 851
28% of permanent differences -459 419 -283 979
Non-booked increase in deferred tax benefit 11 911 605 10 014 830
Tax expense 0 0

The year’s tax payable:
Tax payable on the year’s profit/loss 0 0
Tax payable 0 0

Specification of temporary differences:
Receivables 0 0
Tangible fixed assets, incl. goodwill -758 351 -99 265
Inventory -1 366 923 -1 366 923
Net pension obligation -4 261 015 -3 867 487
Loss carryforward -326 634 053 -285 145 223
Basis for deferred tax asset -333 020 342 -290 478 898

Deferred tax asset = Deferred tax asset not recognised in the accounts -93 245 696 -81 334 091

The deferred tax asset is for the most part related to the tax loss carry forward. As of 31.12.2012 it is deemed not probable that it can be utilized because 
there is uncertainty with respect to whether the company will generate an adequate tax profit in future which would allow the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized. Thus is the deferred tax asset is not capitalized
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Note 11 - Earnings per share - figures in NOK

Earnings per share: 2012 2011
Profit/loss for the year -40 900 661 -34 753 039
Average number of shares 27 023 652 27 023 652
Earnings per share -1,51 -1,29

Number of shares as of 1st of January 2011 27 023 652
Number of shares as of 31st of December 2011 27 023 652
Number of shares as of 31st of December 2012 27 023 652

The key figure diluted earnings per share is based on the same calculation as for earnings per share, but it also takes account of all potential shares that have 
been outstanding in the period, and which will have a diluting effect. Potential shares are related to agreements that confer entitlements to issue shares 
in future. When the company reports negative earnings, the effect of potential shares is disregarded so that the calculation is the same as for earnings per 
share. See note 7 - possible outstanding options could effect the earnings per share since this would increase number of shares and then the earnings per 
share would been reduced due to higher number of shares. 

Note 12 - Intangible assets - figures in NOK

Software Goodwill TOTAL
Acquisition cost at 1.1.2011 1 676 544 572 437 2 248 981
Additions 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2011 1 676 544 572 437 2 248 981
Additions 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2012 1 676 544 572 437 2 248 981

Accumulated depreciation at 1.1.2011 453 332 0 453 332
The year’s depreciation 335 309 0 335 309
The year’s impairment 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31.12.2011 788 641 0 788 641
Carrying amount at 31.12.2011 887 902 572 437 1 460 339

The year’s depreciation 335 308 0 335 308
The year’s impairment 0 572 437 572 437
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31.12.2012 1 123 950 572 437 1 696 387
Carrying amount at 31.12.2012 552 594 0 552 594

Useful life 5 years
Depreciation plan Straight-line
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The goodwill recognised in the balance sheet relates to the merger between DiaGenic ASA and Mefjorden ASA in 2004. On the merger date, goodwill after 
the valuation of intangible assets amounted to NOK 572,437. At 31st of December 2012 the book value of goodwill was assessed for impairment. Based on 
the the development phase the company is in and the uncertainty related to estimation of future cash flows the goodwill has been impaired entirely.

The impairment test of goodwill is based on utility value, and is made of discounted cash flows based on budget and future expectations over a period 
on 4 years based on existing business model. There is used a cash flow of 4 years since it is expected to take longer time for a company’s in research 
and development industry to achieved steady state than for any other type of business. Based on a calculation of utility value, where discounted cash 
flows from financial budgets are used. The expected cash flow is based on company estimates for the period  2013 to 2016, reviewed by the Board and 
management in DiaGenic. Estimates and pertaining assumptions are made to the best of the management’s knowledge of historical and current events, 
experience and other factors that are deemed reasonable in the circumstances. 

Important assumptions in calculating the value is:
- Revenue
- Operating margin
- Discount rate

Revenues are based on anticipated developments within the markets DiaGenic is in, and expected market share. Operating revenues are dependent on of 
the assumptions underlying, and changes in assumptions will affect the future value of the unit.

The discount rate reflects management’s estimate of the risk associated with the cash-generating unit. This is the reference point the management use to 
evaluate operational results and to evaluate future investment proposals. The discount rate used is 13,5 %.50
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Note 13 - Tangible fixed assets - figures in NOK

Other 
equipment Lab equipment

Office 
machines Fixt. & fittings Computers

Lab 
equipment* TOTAL

Acquisition cost at 1.1.2011 465 203 3 899 837 103 308 1 252 074 1 027 169 1 733 880 8 481 470
Additions 0 74 077 0 0 70 785 0 144 862
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost at 31.12.2011 465 203 3 973 914 103 308 1 252 074 1 097 954 1 733 880 8 626 332
Additions 0 28 000 0 0 114 949 0 142 949
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost at 31.12.2012 465 203 4 001 914 103 308 1 252 074 1 212 903 1 733 880 8 769 281

Accumulated depreciation at 1.1.2011 -465 203 -2 226 751 -81 904 -503 633 -905 516 -1 733 880 -5 916 887
Depreciation for the year 0 -358 118 -16 309 -123 057 -78 615 0 -576 099
Loss due to fall in value 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of loss due to fall in value 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31.12.2011 -465 203 -2 584 869 -98 213 -626 690 -984 131 -1 733 880 -6 492 987

Carrying amount at 31.12.2011 0 1 389 045 5 095 625 384 113 823 0 2 133 345
Depreciation for the year 0 -351 403 -3 237 -121 744 -83 436 0 -559 820
Writedown 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Loss due to fall in value 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of loss due to fall in value 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31.12.2012 -465 203 -2 936 272 -101 450 -748 434 -1 067 567 -1 733 880 -7 052 807
Carrying amount at 31.12.2012 0 1 065 642 1 858 503 640 145 336 0 1 716 475

Useful life 3 years 3-8 years 5 years 10 years 3 years 4-5 years
Depreciation plan Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line

* Financial leasing. See note 18.

Note 14 - Inventory - figures in NOK

2012 2011
Finished goods 923 896 914 803

Inventory is valued to the lowest of cost and net selling price. The whole inventory is valued to cost price. 

Note 15 - Cash and cash equivalents - figures in NOK

Of the company’s cash and cash equivalents MNOK 1,16 is restricted in the form of tax withholdings and deposit. The deposit is a bank guarantee 
against Diners Club of TNOK 250 and BD Norge AS of TNOK 70. 
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Note 16 - Share capital and shareholders - figures in NOK

At 31.12.2012 the company’s share capital was NOK 13,511,826 divided between 27,023,652 shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.50. The company 
has only one share class and no special regulations relating to the shares. One share thus confers one vote.

Ownership structure at 31.12.2012: Number of shares Holding
Storebrand Vekst  2 055 669 7,61%
Tredje AP-fonden  1 596 380 5,91%
Alfred Berg Gambak  1 462 949 5,41%
Holdberg Norge  920 231 3,41%
GEC Holding AS  574 901 2,13%
Six Sis AG 25PCT  506 104 1,87%
MP Pensjons PK  392 654 1,45%
Verdipapirfondet Nordea Kapital  388 000 1,44%
Bjørn Dingstad  339 328 1,26%
Lars Otto Galtung  333 412 1,23%
Anders Lønneborg  311 477 1,15%
Midtco Invest AS  240 000 0,89%
Aroma Holding AS  240 000 0,89%
Verdipapirfondet Nordea Avkasting  225 000 0,83%
Kikut AS  222 889 0,82%
Krag Invest AS  220 000 0,81%
Capveen AS  200 000 0,74%
Jan Ove Sæstad  200 000 0,74%
Sigbjørn Folland  200 000 0,74%
Sommerfugl Invest AS  187 000 0,69%
Total, 20 largest shareholders 10 815 994 40,02%
Total others 16 207 658 59,98%
Total number of shares 27 023 652 100,00%

Shares and options owned by board members Assignment Options Number of shares Total of shares
Henrik Lund Chair of Board 0 40 000 40 000
Patrik Olof Dahlen Vice Chair of Board 0 0 0
Ingrid Beichmann Wiik Board member 0 20 000 20 000
Ulrica Slåne *) Board member 0 0 0
Tom Edward Pike Board member 0 0 0

*) Represents Tredje AP-fond that owns 1,596,380 shares. 
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Shares and forward contracts by the management Position Options  Number of shares Total of shares
Paul de Potocki Chief Executive Officer 1 000 000 0 1 000 000
Ruben Ekbråten Chief Financial Officer 85 000 1 199 86 199
Magnus Sjögren Chief Medical Officer 85 000 0 85 000

The company’s options scheme are described in more detail in note 7.

There were no dividends paid out in 2011 or 2012.

Note 17 - Pension costs, assets and obligations - figures in NOK

The company is obliged to have a pension by the law. The company’s pension plan meets the requirements in this Act. 

The company has pension schemes that cover a total of 17 persons. The schemes confer a right to defined future benefits. They are largely dependent on 
the number of years of service, salary level on reaching retirement age and the size of benefits form the National Insurance scheme.

The capitalised net pension obligation has been calculated as follows: 2012 2011
Estimated present value of accrued pension obligations at 31.12. 7 954 110 12 800 603
Estimated pension assets at 31.12. -6 820 000 -7 652 488
Net pension obligations at 31.12. 1 134 110 5 148 115
Accrued social security tax 159 910 725 884
Actuarial gains and losses not accounted for 2 966 995 -2 006 513
Capitalized net pension obligation at 31.12. 4 261 015 3 867 486

The year’s net pension expense is calculated as follows: 2012 2011
Present value of pensions earned during the period 2 929 650 2 280 380
Capital cost of previously earned pensions 355 086 336 582
Expected return on pension assets -359 553 -355 838
Administration costs 184 681 147 959
Accrued social security tax 43 591 339 681
Estimate deviations 0 31 065
Pension expense for the year 3 153 455 2 779 829

The year’s change in the net pension obligation is calculated as follows: 2012 2011
Net pension obligation at 1.1. 3 867 486 3 084 367
Pension expense for the year 3 153 455 2 779 829
The year’s premium paid, incl. accrued social security tax -2 759 926 -1 996 708
Net pension obligation at 31.12. 4 261 015 3 867 487

53



N
ot

es
The year’s change in the present value of the pension obligation: 2012 2011
Present value of the pension obligation at 1.1. 13 526 487 11 244 074
Present value of pensions earned during the period 2 929 650 2 280 380
Actuarial gains and losses -8 356 143 0
Capital cost of previously earned pensions 355 086 336 582
Social security tax -341 060
Variance (change in assumption/experience) 0 -334 550
Present value of pension obligations at 31.12. 8 114 020 13 526 487

The year’s change in the fair value of pension assets: 2012 2011
Fair value of pension assets at 1.1. 7 652 486 6 511 966
Expected return on pension assets 359 553 355 838
Administrative costs -184 681 -147 959
Premium paid for year 2 418 866 1 749 964
Actuarial gains and losses -3 426 226 0
Variance (change in assumption/experience) 0 -817 323
Fair value of pension assets at 31.12. 6 820 000 7 652 486

Economic assumptions: 2012 2011
Discount rate 3.90 % 2.60 %
Expected return on pension assets 3.90 % 4.10 %
Wage growth 3.50 % 3.50 %
Pension adjustments 0.50 % 0.60 %
Adjustment of National Insurance basic amount 3.25 % 3.25 %
Turnover 2.98 % 2.83 %

Composition of pension funds Asset Mix 2012 2011
Stocks 11% 6%
Real estates 16% 17%
Bonds at amortized cost 36% 43%
Short-term bonds 20% 29%
Cash market 12% 0%
Other 4% 3%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

The capitalised net pension obligation: 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Estimated present value of accrued pension obligations at 31.12. 7 954 110 12 800 603 10 518 190 8 486 676 6 852 510
Estimated pension assets at 31.12. -6 820 000 -7 652 488 -6 511 966 -5 381 885 -4 250 109
Net pension obligations at 31.12. 1 134 110 5 148 115 4 006 224 3 104 791 2 602 401
Accrued social security tax 159 910 725 884 564 878 437 776 366 939
Actuarial gains and losses not accounted for 2 966 995 -2 006 513 -1 486 735 -971 934 -1 007 812
Capitalized net pension obligation at 31.12. 4 261 015 3 867 486 3 084 367 2 570 632 1 961 528

54



N
otes

Commonly used assumptions in the insurance industry have been used as actuarial assumptions for demographic factors and retirement rates. The table 
used in the actuarial assumptions for death and disablement pension are K2005. 

Premium payments for 2013 are estimated to be MNOK 2,2.  The company will apply the revised standard from 1st of January 2013. Termination of the 
corridor method will give an effect pr 1st of January 2012 (loss TNOK 2,006) and 1st of January 2013 (gain TNOK 2,966). The loss will reduce the equity and 
the gain will increase the equity. 

The discount rate for 2012 is determined under the guidance of NRS and based on market interest rates for preference bonds (OMF). For 2011, the discount 
rate was estimated based on the interest rate on Norwegian government bonds adjusted to a long-term interest rates with reference to long-term European 
interest rates.

See Note 5 for supplementary benefit/Top-Hat regarding the CEO. 

Note 18  - Financial leasing - figures in NOK

The Company doesn’t have any financial lease agreement.

Note 19 - Lease commitments - figures in NOK

The company has entered into the following lease agreements of significance:

Lease agreements: Lease period Within 1 year Within 1-5 years Over 5 years
Grenseveien 92, 0663 Oslo 9/2006 - 8/2016 2 481 000 6 616 000 0

The rent for 2012 amounted to MNOK 2,56.

Note 20 - Going concern

The financial statement is presented on the going concern assumption under International Financial Reporting Standards. Accordingly, the financial statements 
do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, the amounts and classification of liabilities, or any other 
adjustments that might arise, should the Company be unable to continue as going concern. Tangible assets, inventory and software are recognized at cost 
price after deduction for accumulated depreciation and any write downs. Should the Company be unable to continue as going concern then the recoverability 
and classification of recorded asset amounts might have to be adjusted. 

The Company has raised NOK 30 million in gross proceeds through a private placement on the 8th of March 2013. There will also be a subsequent offering to 
existing shareholder which will raise up to NOK 7 million in gross proceeds. The Company’s private placement in March 2013 will ensure sufficient working 
capital for the next 12 months with current planned activities. The completion of the Private Placement is conditional upon (i) approval by an Extraordinary 
General Meeting of the Company to be held on 2 April 2013 (the ”EGM”), and (ii) registration of the increased share capital of the Company pursuant to the 
Private Placement in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. 
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The net proceeds to the Company from the Private Placement will be used to finance operating costs and secures the necessary funding to achieve key 
near term product development milestones. Priorities include validation and CE marking of MCItect® and ADtect®, read-out of the AMYtect™ study in 
collaboration with GE Healthcare, and an initial meeting with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) which forms part of the process towards regulatory 
clearance in the US. In parallel, the Company is and will continue to evaluate opportunities to achieve commercially meaningful partnerships for its products 
following CE marking and study readout respectively, as well as considering a trade sale at a valuation attractive to its shareholders. 

The Board of Directors confirmed on this basis that the going concern assumption is valid, and that financial statements are prepared in accordance with this 
assumption.

Note 21 - Financial instruments - figures in NOK

Interest-bearing loans has the following contract conditions (information on fixed income and foreign exchange and liquidity risk is given in note 22):

Long-term liabilities Interest rate Nominal value Virkelig verdi
Innovasjon Norge 5,75% 1 666 666 1 576 043

The loan borrowed in 2010 and is a serial loan over four years, first year without installments. One year installments MNOK 1.67 are classified as current 
liabilities. The loan is secured in inventory, plant,  equipment and account receivables with a value of MNOK 6,5. The loan has quarterly installments. 
Innovasjon Norge can with four weeks notice set a new interest rate. 

Carrying amount 31.12. Fair value 31.12.
Specification of lending and receivables: 2012 2011 2012 2011
Skattefunn scheme 1 244 630 1 340 727 1 244 630 1 340 727
Account receivables 71 816 53 480 71 816 53 480
Miscellaneous receivables 1 995 204 2 260 726 1 995 204 2 260 726
Total lending and receivables 3 311 649 3 654 933 3 311 649 3 654 933

Specification of other current liabilities: 2012 2011 2012 2011
Account payable 1 811 676 1 689 352 1 811 676 1 689 352
Public duties payable 1 831 914 1 549 833 1 831 914 1 549 833
Other current liabilities 871 060 679 922 871 060 679 922
Innovasjon Norge 1 666 667 1 666 667 1 666 667 1 666 667
Provision for employer’s National Insurance contributions on granted options 0 3 936 0 3 936
Vacation acc.and Board of Directors remuneration accrual 2 621 626 2 504 554 2 621 626 2 504 554
Total other current liabilities 8 802 943 8 094 264 8 802 943 8 094 264

Specification of other long term debt: 2012 2011 2012 2011
Innovasjon Norge 0 1 666 667 0 1 666 667
Total other long term debt 0 1 666 667 0 1 666 667

The Company does not have financial assets or liabilities measured to fair value.

Liabilities that are due within one year is defined as current, and liabilities which are longer than one year is defined as long-term.
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Note 22 - Risk

Risk factors related to Market
Unproven market
DiaGenic’s products will be launched in a market where the current diagnostic methods are based on fundamentally different concepts, technologies and 
procedures. There is no assurance that DiaGenic’s products and product characteristics will be accepted and used by the customers.

Regulatory approval
Approval by regulatory authorities is required in most countries where DiaGenic intends to market its products. Market access is controlled by the relevant 
authority in each market by setting requirement on how to obtain and maintain regulatory approval for a product. Thus regulatory requirements are of 
particular importance.

The processes of obtaining approvals for new products require substantial resources and expenditures. Any failure to obtain, or delay in obtaining such 
approvals could adversely affect the Company’s ability to utilise its technology. There can be no assurance that DiaGenic will receive the necessary regulatory 
approvals for the planned products derived from its technology.

Changes in governmental regulations in DiaGenic’s main markets could have a material effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition. 

Competition
The in vitro diagnostic industry is highly competitive and DiaGenic will be competing with many established technologies. Furthermore, extensive research to 
develop new products or methods which compete with the Company’s technology is ongoing. DiaGenic has no guarantee that this competition will not have 
an adverse effect on the Company’s ability to launch the proprietary products successfully. Competitors include, amongst others, major in vitro diagnostic and 
biotechnology companies with substantially greater resources than DiaGenic. There can be no assurance that one or several of the Company’s competitors 
will not succeed in developing technologies and products that are more efficient or more economic than any of those developed by DiaGenic or which would 
render DiaGenic’s products obsolete and/or otherwise non-competitive.

In addition to rapid technological changes, altered customer needs may reduce the Company’s competitiveness. 

Dependence on Healthcare reimbursement
DiaGenic’s first product launches will be in markets where the Company does not expect a refund or reimbursement program, but may get in place on a 
later point. To be commercially successfull, the Company may be dependent on reimbursement from national health authorities, private health insurance 
companies and other organizations. Such third party institutions increasingly challenge the price of medical and diagnostic products. There is considerable 
uncertainty to the status around reimbursement of new healthcare products, and it can therefore be no assurance that adequate third party coverage will 
be available to enable DiaGenic to maintain price levels sufficient to realise an appropriate return on investment in product development. Reimbursement 
schemes may well be altered which can lead to adverse effects on DiaGenic’s product sales. 

Operational risk factors
Technology and development stage 
DiaGenic’s products are at the research and development stage, or at the market introduction stage for the CE marked ADtect®, and consequently accompanied 
by persistent product development risk. It may be that the company will not be able to demonstrate sufficient robustness in their diagnostic tests, or it may 
be that the company is unable to reach the level of sensitivity and specificity required. The gene expression tests that are developed by the Company are at
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various stages of product development. DiaGenic use blood samples and clinical data from humans in their development and validation. The company runs 
the risk of not getting access to sufficient amounts of blood samples and clinical data, or samples and clinical data that did not meet the company’s quality 
standards, which could delay or halt the development and validation of the products. Identification of gene signatures is performed on a limited number of 
samples, which subsequently can prove not to sufficient in validation studies performed on the target audience, including levels of specificity and sensitivity 
in order to be competitive in the market or other requirements of the medical and scientific community. No guarantees can be given that any of its products 
and research and development program will be fully developed or commercially viable, either due to lack of partner, wrong partner, or clinical effectiveness 
of the products or for other reasons. Negative results or inconclusive studies could substantially delay or halt development of
products and / or the licensing of products.

Intellectual property rights
The commercial success of DiaGenic depends in part on its ability to obtain patent protection for the technology and the products in the principle markets 
for the Company. Currently DiaGenic’s intellectual property consists of granted patents, notice of allowance of patents, patent applications and trademarks. 
There is no assurance that patent applications will be granted or that granted patents will be sufficiently broad in their scope to provide protection for 
intellectual property rights and exclude competitors with similar technology.

There is a risk that DiaGenic was not the first to file patent applications for its inventions. Granted patents may also be deemed invalid. 

The commercial success of DiaGenic will also depend in part on non-infringement of patents granted. Competitors may have filed applications, or patents 
may have been granted, or may obtain patents that may relate to products competitive with those of DiaGenic’s. Resolving a patent infringement claim can 
be costly and time consuming and may require DiaGenic to enter into royalty or license agreements. Alternatively, the Company may need to cease or alter 
certain activities or processes or develop or obtain alternative technology. This may have a material adverse effect on DiaGenic.

Reliance of collaboration partners in research and development
DiaGenic collaborates with a number of partners in the development of products. Termination or other adverse effects upon current collaborations could 
delay or harm DiaGenic’s product development.

Reliance of collaboration partners in sales and marketing
DiaGenic has a commercialisation strategy which involves partners in the sales and marketing of the Company’s products and technology. Future revenues 
depend on whether DiaGenic will be successful in entering such agreements and also the terms of these agreements. Termination or other adverse effects 
upon current collaborations could delay or harm DiaGenic’s sales and marketing, product development and product launches. The Company may fail to 
negotiate attractive agreements with future partners, which would have an adverse effect on DiaGenic’s future development. 

Key personnel
The loss of any of the members of its senior management or other key personnel or the inability to attract a sufficient number of qualified employees could 
adversely affect its business and results of operations.
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Product liability and insurance
DiaGenic’s business is exposed to potential liability risks that are inherent in the research and development, pre-clinical and clinical testing, marketing and the 
use of human diagnostic products. However, such potential liability risks are significantly lower for in vitro diagnostic products compared with therapeutic 
products. 

Dependence of third parties in manufacturing
The Company is dependent on suppliers of equipment and instruments from third parties. DiaGenic’s gene selections are analysed using equipment, 
technology and materials from platform providers. Current products are based on a technology platform and materials supplied by Life Technologies (former 
Applied Biosystems) (AB). DiaGenic’s products are dependent on continued supply of the cards from AB and availability of the technological platform. A shift 
in technology platform may or may not be possible, but will in any case require extensive development which consumes both time and costs. The technology 
and corresponding materials will need to be available in commercial quantities, in compliance with regulatory requirements and at an acceptable cost. 
DiaGenic may experience difficulties in obtaining access to suitable substitutes at an acceptable cost. 

Financial risk:
The company does not use financial instruments in connection with the management of financial risk. The Company uses financial instruments such as bank 
loans. 
The purpose of this financial instrument is to provide capital for investments that are necessary for its operations. In addition, financial instruments such as 
accounts receivable, accounts payable, etc. that are directly related to the companys’ daily operations.

The company does not use financial instruments, including financial derivatives for trading purposes.

The key financial risks the company is exposed to is related to interest rate risk, liquidity risk, currency risk and credit risk.

Currency risk:
The company’s functional currency is NOK. The company’s transactions mainly take place in NOK, and a modest number of transactions take place in SEK, 
EUR, GBP, and USD. The company’s revenues are in euros and will be influenced by variations in the exchange rate against NOK, the same will apply to 
expenses in other currencies. The company uses currently no financial hedging instruments, but can for larger contracts consider it. 

Interest rate risk:
The company’s risk exposure in relation to changes in market interest rates are the company’s pension, leases and bank deposits, and a change in interest
rates may therefore affect the capital return. At 31st December 2012 the Company had a loan with Innovation Norway of MNOK 1,67. 

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the potential loss that may arise if a counterparty’s ability or willingness to meet its obligations to fail, when it is due for payment. New customers 
are credit checked prior to contract conclusion. DiaGenic credit risk is considered to be relatively low, as claims are mainly against the various research 
institutions and large international organisations. Other receivables are mainly prepaid expenses. In addition, balance on accounts receivables is constantly 
monitored, with the result that the company’s risk of loss is not significant. Maximum risk exposure is outstanding receivables of TNOK 2,674.
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Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the potential loss that occurs when a company fails to fulfil its contractual obligations when they fall due. The Company strengthened its 
financial position in 2013 through a private placement reducing the company’s liquidity risk. The Company monitors its risks associated for lack of capital up 
against the company’s planned activities. The Company will if necessary attempt to raise capital through private placements, debt financing, partnerships, 
strategic alliances or from other sources. The company may fail to raise capital on acceptable terms, or not do it at all, and can result in a liquidation.

Note 23 - Events after the balance sheet date

The Company has raised NOK 30 million in gross proceeds through a private placement on the 8th of March 2013. There will also be a subsequent offering to 
existing shareholder which might raise up to NOK 7 million in gross proceeds. The Company’s private placement in March 2013 will ensure sufficient working 
capital for the next 12 months with current planned activities. The completion of the Private Placement is conditional upon (i) approval by an Extraordinary 
General Meeting of the Company to be held on 2 April 2013 (the ”EGM”), and (ii) registration of the increased share capital of the Company pursuant to the 
Private Placement in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.

New information about the company’s position on the balance sheet date are taken into account. Subsequent events that do not affect the company’s 
position on the balance sheet date, but that will affect the company’s future financial position, are informed about if essential. Other new that are important 
is is obliged to be noticed to Oslo Stock Exchange and refer to the Company’s web site. 
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D
eclaration by the Board of D

irectors and the CEO

“We confirm that the financial statements for the period 1 January up to and including 31 December 2012, to the best of our knowledge, have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company, 
and that the management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the company taken as a 
whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.”

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of DiaGenic ASA

Oslo, 20th of March 2013
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